
1. ROLL CALL 

AGENDA 

Special Workshop of the 
CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 

Monday, January 10, 2011 - 12:00 Noon 
City Hall Community Room 

420 Capitola Avenue 
Capitola, California 

Council Members Harlan, Termini, Nicol, Storey, and Mayor Norton 

2. CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP 

A. Council Member Handbook. Presentation by the City Manager's 
Department. 

B. Brown Act/Ethics/Public Records Act. Presentation by City Attorney 
John Barisone. 

C. Best Practices. Presentation by Dick Wilson, retired City Manager 
from the City of Santa Cruz. 

D. Council discussion of Meeting Practices and Protocols: 

• Rosenberg Rules of Order 
• The Riggins Rules 
• Public Speaker Time Limits 
• Protocol for adding items to the Agenda (Municipal Code 

§2.04.140) 
• Managing the Meeting and Agenda Flow 

3. ADJOURNMENT 
Adjourn to a Regular Joint Meeting of the City Council/Redevelopment 
Agency to be held on Thursday, January 13, 2011 , in the City Hall Council 
Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, California. 

If you require special assistance in order to attend the meeting, 
including needs addressed by ADA, please notify the City 

at 831-475-7300 at least 3 days prior to meeting. 



CITY OF CAPITOLA 

City Council Member Handbook 

Approved on March 27, 2003 
Revised 9/07 

CITY OF CAPITOLA 
420 Capitola Avenue 
Capitola, CA 95010 



CITY COUNCIL MEMBER HANDBOOK 

INDEX 

INTRODUCTION ............................ ...... .......................................................... 2 

CHAPTER I: Types of Meetings, Meeting Guidelines & Procedures ........... 6 

CHAPTER 2: Council Member Compensation ..................... ............... ...... ... 10 

CHAPTER 3: City Council & Redevelopment Agency Director Powers .... II 

CHAPTER 4: Boards, Commissions and Committees .................. .. .............. 13 

CHAPTER 5: Conflict ofInterest ........................... .. ..... .. ............................. 17 

CHAPTER 6: The Brown Act - Open Meeting Law .................................... 19 

CHAPTER 7: City Organization ................... ................................................ . 20 

CHAPTER 8: Council/StaffReiationships 
Conduct and Support Provided to Council ................ ............. 23 



INTRODUCTION 

The City Council is composed offive Council Members, all of who are directl y elected by the 
voters in the City of Capitola to serve a four- year tenn. The Council elects the Mayor and 
Vice-Mayor annually. Although not granted special decision-making powers, the Mayor does 
represent the City in all ceremonial and official affairs. The City's Municipal elections are 
held the first Tuesday of November in each even-numbered year. 

The people of the City of Capitola elected to adopt an ordinance limiting the tenns of elected 
officials to two (2) consecutive tenns. Ordinance No. 844 was adopted on November 26, 
2002 . 

The City Council meets regularly twice monthly on the second and fourth Thursdays. The 
purpose of the City Council is to establish local laws, set policy, reject or approve programs, 
allocate funds and provide direction, tlu·ough the City Manager, to City staff to implement its 
policy and administer to the needs of the City organization. The Council has the authority to 
appoint the City Manager, the City Attorney and members to various local and regional 
committees, commissions and other boards. 

City Council members also serve as Directors of the Capitola Redevelopment Agency and are 
Board Members of the Capitola Financing Authority. 

Since the City of Capitola is a General Law City, as opposed to a charter city, its Council 
must act within the framework of limitations and procedures established by State Law such as 
the California Government Code or the Election Code. Local laws are established by 
ordinance and are compiled in a book called the Municipal Code. These laws are enforceable 
by the City, and violations thereof can constitute a misdemeanor or an infraction. Other 
directives and policies of the City Council are recorded in Council resolutions and Council 
minutes. 

2 



CHAPTER 1 

TYPES OF MEETINGS, MEETING GUIDELINES & PROCEDURES 

I. MEETING SCHEDULE 

REGULAR MEETINGS 

Regular meetings are held the second and fourth Thursday of each month beginning at 7:00 
p.m. In the event that a regular meeting of the Council falls on a legal holiday, the meeting 
may be rescheduled or cancelled. The City Council has typically taken one or both meetings 
in August off to accommodate vacations. Regular meetings of the City Council are generally 
followed preceded by a meeting of the Redevelopment Agency. 

Regular meetings are held in the City Hall Council Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola. 

CLOSED SESSION MEETINGS (Closed to the public) 

Closed Session Meetings are regulated pursuant to the Brown Act. Closed sessions are 
typically held prior to a City Council Meeting. Certain defined circumstances exist wherein 
the Council may meet without the public in attendance. Such circumstances include: 

1. Real Propet1y. The purchase, sale, exchange or lease of real property with the City'S 
negotiator (Cal Govt. Code Section 54956.8) 

2. Litigation Pending or a significant exposure to litigation, or the decision to initiate 
litigation; the litigation or title must be identified in open session unless the Council 
states that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude existing settlement 
negotiations or effectuate service of process (Cal Govt. Code Section 54956.9) 

3. Compensation (salaries and benefits) of employees; to review its position and instruct 
designated representatives (Cal Govt. Section 54957.6). 

4. Personnel. The appointment, employment, evaluation of performance or dismissal of 
a public employee, or to hear complaint against the employee, unless the employee 
requests a public hearing (Cal Govt. Code Section 54957.6). 

No member of the Council, employee of the City, or anyone else present shall disclose to 
any person the content or substance of any discussion, which takes place in a closed 
session. 

STUDY SESSIONS 

Often referred to as "work sessions", the purpose of these meetings is for informal discussions 
between staff, advisory bodies or consultants, the public and the City Council regarding 
specific programs, projects or policies. These meetings are public and subject to the Brown 
Act. 

EMERGENCY MEETINGS 
Given certain emergencies as defined by the Brown Act, the City Council may meet without 
notice. 

3 



SPECIAL MEETINGS 

The Mayor or a majority of the members of the City Council may call special meetings. 
Written notice for each special meeting must be given not less than twenty-four (24) hours 
before such meeting to each member of the City Council. Written notice must be posted and 
given to the media twenty-four hours prior to a special meeting. No business other than that 
arUlounced and posted shall be discussed. 

n. AGENDA 

EST ABLISHING THE COUNCIL AGENDA 

The purpose of the agenda is to publicly almounce and disclose the City's business before the 
Council and to provide a framework within which Council meetings are to be conducted. The 
City Manager is responsible for compiling the agenda and will review the agenda materials 
with the Mayor, or in the Mayor' s absence, the Vice-Mayor. The complete agenda packet is 
usually published before the close of business on the Friday prior to the Council meeting. 
Agendas are posted on the City Web Site (http://www.ci.capitola.ca.us/). the Capitola Post 
Office and Capitola Library. 

PLACING AN ITEM ON THE AGENDA 

The Mayor and the City Manager have the authority to place an item on the Council agenda 
(CMC 2.04.140). A majority of a quorum of the City Council may order an item placed on 
the agenda. The City Council may place a matter on the agenda after the 72-hour posting 
period in the maImer provided for by the Government Code. The chair of a board, 
commission or committee, the City Treasurer, City Clerk, or City Attorney may place a matter 
on the agenda provided the subject is reasonably related to their powers and duties, and is 
within the authority of the City Council. All others must direct their agenda request to the 
City Council , the Mayor, or the City Manager. 

EMERGENCY ITEMS 

Emergency items may be placed on the agenda only in accordance with State law. Generally, 
only those matters affecting public health or safety may be considered emergency in nature. 
A four-fifths vote of the Council is necessary to add an emergency item to the agenda. 

DELIVERY AND DISTRffiUTION OF AGENDA PACKETS 

The City Council Agenda packets are prepared by the City Manager's office. Barring 
unavoidable difficulties or holidays, the Agenda packets will be distributed to members of the 
City Council on the Friday evening preceding the Thursday City Council Meeting. All 
Council Members will receive a PDF version of the packet via e-mail. Council Members may 
also request a hard copy of the agenda packet to be delivered to them. Each Agenda item shall 
be composed of the Agenda Report and all backup material needed for the City Council to 
take its action. 

4 



ORDER OF BUSINESS shall be as follows: 

OPEN SESSION 
In the council Chambers, an announcement regard ing items to be discussed in Closed Session 
will be made and an opportunity for the public to comment on Closed Session will be 
avai lable. 

CLOSED SESSION (not open to the public) 

OPEN SESSION 
Roll Call and pledge of allegiance 
Presentations 
I. Report on Closed Session (Actions taken by the City Council during closed session 

usually reported by the City Attomey) 
2. Oral Communications 

a. Additions and/or deletions to Agenda 
b. Public Comments 
c. Staff Comments 
d. Council Members/City Treasurer report on attendance at meetings or other 

activities where they represent the City. 
e. Committee Reports/Appointments 
f. Approval of Check Register 

3. Consent Calendar 
4. Public Hearings 
5. Other Business 

Consent Calendar items that have been previously pulled for separate discussion 
6. Oral Communications (Additional requests for information, comments or observations by 

the Council , staff or the public.) 
7. Adjournment 

NOTIFICATION 

Agendas for regular meetings must be posted 72 hours in advance of the meeting and must 
meet various requirements (Govemment Code Section 54954.2). Agendas are posted in the 
Council Chambers foyer, the Capitola Library, Post Office, City Hall and the City web site 
www.ci .capitola.ca.us. 

III. MEETING PROCEDURES 

PRESIDING OFFICER 

The Mayor is the Presiding Officer and acts as Chair at Council meetings and Redevelopment 
Agency meetings. In the absence or incapacity of the Mayor, the Vice Mayor will serve as 
Presiding Officer. If both the Mayor and Vice Mayor are absent, it has been the practice of 
the Council to select the immediate Past Mayor as presiding officer. 

Seating arrangement of the Council: Following the annual reorganization of the City Council, 
the Mayor, with the approval of individual Council Members, shall establi sh seating 
alTangements for regular Council meetings. 

5 



Signing of City Documents: The Mayor, unless unavailable or disqualified, shall sign all 
ordinances, resolutions and other documents which require an official signature, except where 
the City Manager has been authorized by Council to sign documents. In the event the Mayor 
is unavailable, the Vice Mayor's signature may be used. 

OUORUM 

A majority (three) of the Council Members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of 
business. 

CITY COUNCIL GENERAL POLICIES AND RULES OF ORDER 

City Counci l Minutes: The City Clerk prepares the minutes for all regular and special 
meetings of the City Council and submits for approval and/or correction on the Consent 
Calendar at a regular City Council Meeting. The minutes of a preceding Council Meeting 
may be approved without reading; provided that the City Clerk has previously furnished each 
member of the Council with a copy of the minutes and that a majority of the Council has not 
requested such a reading. The primary purpose of City Council Meeting Minutes is to record 
the actions taken by the City Council. The Minutes shall also include a record of all persons 
addressing the City Counci l by name, city of residence, and subject or position. 

Correction of Counci l Minutes: When a Council Member wishes to correct the minutes, 
he/she should contact the City Clerk in advance of the meeting with the correction. The City 
Clerk will then verify the con'ection by listening to the recording of the meeting. Upon 
verification of an error in the minutes, the City Clerk will provide the corrections to the 
Council at the meeting. If time constraints prevent this procedure, the Council should 
continue the approval of the minutes to the next meeting and direct the City Clerk to verify 
the error. 

Notification of Meeting Absences: Members of the City Council shall notify the City Manager 
or City Clerk when they are unable to attend a City Council Meeting by email or telephone. 

City Council Meeting Curfew: The City Council meeting curfew is 11 :30 p.m. At 11 : 15 p.m., 
the City Council will review the remaining Agenda items and make a decision regarding 
continuing with the meeting or tenninating the meeting. If the meeting is tenninated, the 
Council shall decide which items will be considered before the 11 :30 p.m. curfew, which 
items will be continued, and to what meeting the continued items would be considered. 

Reordering Agenda Items: The Mayor may, with Council concurrence, reorder items on the 
Agenda to accommodate the public or to address other concerns (2.04.190). 

Meeting Decorum: While the City Council is in session, all persons shall preserve order and 
decorum. Any person making personal, impertinent, or slanderous remarks, or becoming 
boisterous or otherwise disrupting the Council meeting shall be barred by the Mayor from 
further attendance at said meeting unless pennission for continued attendance is granted by a 
majority vote of the City Council. 

Obtaining the floor: A member of the City Councilor staff shall first address the Mayor and 
gain recognition. Conunents and questions should be limited to the issue before Council. 

6 



A Council Member, once recognized, shall not be interrupted when speaking unless it is to 
call himlher to order. If a member, while speaking, is called to order, he/she shall cease 
speaking until the question of order is detennined and, if in order, he/she shall be pennitted to 
proceed. 

Questions of Staff: A Council Member shall, after recognition by the Mayor, address 
questions to the designated staff member. 

PARLIAMENT ARY PROCEDURE 

Municipal Code Section 2.04.210, Paragraph G., pertains to "Rules of Order" governing city 
meetings. That code section stipulates that rules of order for the city council, as well as city 
advisory bodies, shall be designated by resolution. At its February 8, 2006, meeting, the City 
Council adopted Resolution No. 3611 designating, "Rosenberg's Rules of Order: Simple 
ParliamentaJ), Procedures for the 21st Centwy," as the city's rules of order. 

VOTING PROCEDURES 

When present, all Council Members shall vote. The votes shall be one of the following: Aye, 
No, Abstain or Disqualified (if a council member has a conflict of interest and recuses 
him/herself). If a member of the body does not vote, they "Abstain". No member of the 
Council shall be allowed to explain hislher vote or discuss the question while the roll is being 
called, and no member shall be allowed to change his vote after the vote is mmounced by the 
presiding officer (CMC 2.04.250). Rules of Order, however, do allow for the reconsideration 
of a matter at the same meeting or at the very next meeting of the body, where the item was 
first voted upon. A motion to reconsider must be made by a member who voted in the 
majority on the original motion. Under reconsideration votes can change. 

No ordinance, resolution or motion shall be passed or become effective without receiving the 
affirmative vote of the majority of the Council quorum, which is present. A conflict of interest 
shall be declared whenever appropriate and in compliance with State law. The Council 
Member who has a conflict will briefly explain the conflict, step down and leave the room. 
The Council Member shall not make, participate in making or influence the decision. The 
Council Member will be disqualified in the recorded vote. 

The Mayor shall restate the motion prior to the vote. 

Tie votes: Should a tie vote occur, the Mayor, unless overridden by a majority of present 
council members, may continue the matter to another meeting. When there is a tie council 
vote on an appeal from a board or commission action, unless the matter is continued, the 
appeal will be deemed denied and the board or commission action becomes final (CMC 
2.04.180). 

PRESENTATIONS 
Presentations shall be scheduled as necessary to recognize persons or groups, promote events 
or to provide an update on matters of community interest. These are infonnational , 
ceremonial and other activities before the Council that do not require any decision on the part 
of the Council. The Mayor approves all presentation requests. Presentations are limited to 15 
minutes. 

7 



ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

Members of the public may address the City Council in a variety of ways. Written comments 
or material distributed at the meeting will be made a part of the public record. Oral 
communications on matters that are not on the agenda and are not public hearing items may 
be provided during the Oral Communications period at the beginning and end of every 
meeting. 

Pursuant to the Brown Act, no action may be taken on issues not listed on the agenda. Staff 
may be asked to follow-up on such items or schedule an item for a future meeting. 

Oral comments before the City Council should be limited to three (3) minutes. The maximum 
time for public comments at the beginning of the meeting is 30 minutes. 

Council Members may question the person addressing the Council at the conclusion of the 
person 's comments. Such questions shall be directed to the person through the Mayor. If a 
member of the audience has addressed the Council on matters, which are not on the agenda, 
Council Members should refrain fi'om extended discussion of the matter. If a Council 
Member so wishes the Council Member may direct the City Manager to place the matter on a 
future agenda. 

CONSENT ITEMS 

Consent items are the first items on the agenda. Only items that are routine and usually not 
controversial or have been addressed by the Council at prior meetings or are ministerial in 
nature are to be placed on the Consent Agenda. A Council Member, Treasurer, Staff or a 
member of the public may pull any item for discussion. Pulled items are placed after Other 
Business or the Mayor may reorder to anther place on the agenda 

Minor Questions. A Council Member may ask questions on any item without it being pulled. 
When a Council Member has a minor question for clarification concerning a consent item that 
will not involve extended discussion, the item may be discussed prior to action on the consent 
calendar for clarification. Council Members are encouraged to seek clarifications from staff 
prior to the meeting. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

The City Council conducts public hearings on applications, projects and other matters as 
required to provide due process of law or, as may be detennined by Councilor staff of such 
an interest to the public that the solicitation of public comment is desired. 

OTHER BUSINESS 

Other Business items are acted upon individually. The public may address the Council on an 
Other Business item. Persons addressing the Council on an item shall confine their remarks 
to the matter under consideration by the Council. 

8 



ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 
This is a second opportunity for a member of the Council , Staff, Treasurer or the Public to 
address the Council on items not on the agenda. Refer to definition above. 

IV. MEETING COVERAGE 

All City Council meetings are televised "live" on cable Channel 8. The purpose of cable 
casting City Council meetings is to enhance the awareness and education of the general public 
regarding the actions and deliberations of the City Council. Meetings are re-broadcasted on 
Community Television of Santa Cruz County. 

9 



CHAPTER 2 

COUNCIL MEMBER COMPENSATION 

Council compensation and benefits are established by Council Action. 

SALARIES FOR COUNCIL MEMBERS & REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY BOARD 
MEMBERS 

Compensation for Council Members is $500 per month pursuant to Capitola Municipal Code 
Section 2.04.275 (Ordinance No. 901 adopted 3/23/06). Compensation for expenses related 
to conferences, dues, memberships, subscliptions and supplies is reimbursable and must be 
submitted for approval and payment to the City Manager. Those expenses then must be 
reported by the Council Member either written or orally at the next regular Council Meeting. 
When acting in the capacity of a Redevelopment Agency Director, the Director will receive 
$30 per meeting, not to exceed $120 per month. 

RETIREMENT, MEDICAL, DENTAL AND VISION 

City Council members may obtain medical, dental and vision insurance through the City, but 
they must pay the entire premium. Please see the Executive Assistant to the City Manager for 
further information on this and eligibility for retirement benefit s. Council members will also 
he enrolled in either PARS or CALPERS retirement system depending on their choice. 

10 



CHAPTER 3 

CITY COUNCIL & REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY DIRECTOR POWERS 

CITY COUNCIL MAYOR - APPOINTMENT, POWER AND DUTIES 

The Mayor shall preside at all meetings of the City Council and perform such other duties 
consistent with the office as may be imposed by the Council. The Mayor can place matters on 
the agenda. The Mayor shall be entitled to, and must vote when present, but shall possess no 
veto power. 

The Mayor shall be recognized as the official head of the City for all ceremonial purposes. 

Appointment: After each general municipal election, the City Council reorganizes and selects 
its mayor and mayor pro tempore. In off election years CMC Section 2.04.150 provides that, 
"At a regular meeting which falls approximately one year after the last general municipal 
election, the City Council shall consider choosing a new mayor and a new mayor pro tempore. 
Any City Council member is eligible for either of those two positions." 

MAYOR PRO TEMPORE <Vice Mavor) 

In case of the temporary absence or inability of the mayor to act as presiding officer the 
mayor pro tempore shall preside. In case of the absence or disability of both the mayor and 
mayor pro tempore the council shall elect one of its members to act as mayor pro tempore 
(CMC 2.04.160). 

APPOINTMENT OF STANDBY CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS 

Govemment Code Sections 8653 and following provide that the City Council shall have the 
authority to appoint up to three standby City Council Members per Council position. Such 
standby members would serve as City Council persons in the event that a Council Member is 
"unavailable" in an "emergency" as those words are defined in the Califomia Emergency 
Services Act. 

To become effective the nomination must be approved by the City Council , and the nominee 
must take the oath of office (CMC 2.04.165). 

GENERAL POWERS OF THE COUNCIL 

Subject to the provisions of law and the delegation of power to any person, officer, Board or 
Commission, the Council shall have the power in the name of the City, to do and perfonn all 
acts and actions appropriate to a municipal corporation that are not specifically forbidden by 
the Constitution and laws of the State of Califomia or the United States Govemment. 

11 



ORDINANCES 

Ordinances are the laws of a municipality. City Council s are given the power to adopt 
ordinances by Government Code Section 37 100 as long as those ordinances are not in conflict 
with the laws and the Constitution of the State of California or the United States. 

An ordinance is the most binding fonn of action taken by the City Council ; the violation may 
be a misdemeanor. It is an act of law. Ordinances are generally introduced at one Council 
Meeting and adopted at the next, becoming effective 30 days after adoption. If an ordinance 
relates to zoning and is included in the Local Coastal Plan (LCP), such ordinances would not 
become effective until approval by the California Coastal Commission. 

RESOLUTIONS 

A resolution constitutes a written action or decision. However, it usually does not demand the 
legal processing required of an ordinance. A resolution is generally introduced and adopted at 
the same meeting and becomes effective immediately. 

CAPITOLA REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

The City Council also acts in the capacity of the Board of Directors for the City of Capitola 
Redevelopment Agency. The Capitola Redevelopment Agency was forn1ed on June 24, 1982, 
with the adoption of a Redevelopment Plan. Redevelopment is a process created through State 
of California law to assist city and county governments in eliminating blight fi'om a 
designated area, and to implement desired development, reconstruction, and rehabilitation of 
land and buildings. 

12 



CHAPTER 4 

BOARDS, COMMISSIONS & COMMITTEES 

The purpose of most committees, commissions or boards (advisory bodies) is to serve as 
advisory bodies to the City Council. Commissions and boards focus on one area of interest 
(i .e. plmUling issues, financial issues, Village issues, Art programs, etc.), and through 
legis lation, are given specific duties and powers relating to the particular subject area. 
Advisory Bodies are either mandated by law or established by the City Council by adoption of 
an ordinance or resolution. Ad-hoc committees are generally short-term bodies, which may be 
formed by the Council to provide infonnation or assistance on a special task. Ad-hoc 
committees generally are dissolved after their specific task is completed. 

The following infonnation offers a brief synopsis of the City'S Commissions, Committees & 
Boards. 

Architectu.·al & Site Review Committee 

The Architectural and Site Review committee consists of fi ve members as follows: an 
Architect; Landscape Architect; Historian; Building Official; Associate Planner and the 
Public Works Director. The Mayor, with the concurrence of the Council , appoints the 
Architect, Historian and the Landscape Architect; however, a majority of the Council may 
remove them. Pursuant to CMC 17.63.020 B, the member's term expires one month after the 
certification of any regular election of City Council members. Architectural & Site Review 
members are compensated $50 per month, and are required to receive AB 1234 Ethics training 
every 2 years as well as file a Statement Of Economic Interest form with the City Clerks 
office. 

The purpose of thi s committee as defined in Capitola Municipal Code Section 17.63 .010, is 
" ... to maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood by promoting excellence of 
development, preventing undue traffic hazards or congestion, encouraging the utilization of 
solar energy, and encouraging the most appropriate development and use of land in harmony 
with the neighborhood. In fulfilling its intent, architectural and site approval may contain 
reasonable conditions which exceed the basic development standards listed elsewhere in this 
title. " 

This committee meets the 2nd and 41h Wednesday of the month at 3 :30 p.m. in the City Hall 
Community Room. The staff contact is the Associate Planner and the Senior Planner. 

Art & Cultural Commission 

The Art & Cultural Commission meets the 2nd Tuesday of the month at 6 :30 p.m. in the City 
Council Chambers. The Art & Cultural Commission consists of seven members: I Council 
Member, I PlalUling Commissioner, I Artist or Art Organization Representative, I Art 
Professional and 3 "At-Large" members. Appointments to the commission shall be made by 
the City Council. The tenn of a commissioner is two years . Members are required to submit 
a Statement of Economic Interest fonn annually to the City Clerk. 

13 



The duties of the Art & Cultural Commission are defined in Section 2.56.050 the Capitola 
Municipal Code as fo llows: 

The Art & Cultural Commission shall have the following duties and responsibilities: 

a. Advise the City Council as to the allocation of public funds for the support and 
encouragement of existing and new programs in the arts, and for the acquisition by 
purchase, gift or otherwise, of works of art; 

b. Subject to City Council approval, initiate, sponsor or direct special programs 
which wi ll enhance the cultural climate of the City; 

c. Establish a close liaison with other commissions and civic organizations in order 
to foster public interest in the arts; 

d. Advise the City Council conceming the interpretation and implementation of the 
City's established policies and practices, including the Art & Cultural Master Plan, 
as they relate to the Art & Cultural Commission's objectives; 

e. In February of each year, prepare for City Council review an assessment of the Art 
& Cultural Commission' s goals, plans and objectives from the prior fiscal year and 
recommend for Council approval the Art & Cultural Commission 's goals, plans 
and obj ecti ves for the next fiscal year. 

f. Perfonn such other functions and duties as may be directed by the City Council. 

Commission on the Environment 

This commission provides advice and recommendations to the City Council on matters 
affecting the various envirol1l11ental assets in and about the City. The commission has broad 
discretion on detennining which assets are envirol1l11ental, but does not have the ability to 
consider matters considered by other standing committees or commissions. 

The COE is to be comprised of seven members: the Mayor, an appointee of the Mayor, an 
appointee from each Council Member, and an appointee from the Planning Commission. 
Although the COE is required to meet quarterly at a minimum, it generally meets monthly on 
the first Tuesday of the month. The staff liaison is the Associate Planner. 

Finance Advisorv Committee 

The Finance Advisory Committee advises the City Council on financial matters pertaining to 
the goveming of the City, as well as on the use of fiscal resources. The Committee consists of 
8 members, including the Mayor, Vice-Mayor, Redevelopment Treasurer, the City Treasurer 
and 3 public members by the Council Members not on the committee. Members are selected 
by the City Council on the basis of their knowledge, expelience, and qualifications in 
financial management and related areas. 

14 



The Finance Committee 's purpose is: 
I . To provide financial and budget alternatives to the city Council 
2. To provide financial and budget advice to the City Manager 
3. To conduct financial studies at the request of the City Councilor the City Manager 
4. To review the budget and financial reports of the City and Redevelopment 

Agency. 

The Finance Committee meets the third Tuesday of the month at 6:30 p.m. in the City Hall 
Community Room. The staff liaison is the Finance Director. 

Historical Museum Board 

The Historical Museum Board consists of seven members who are appointed by the Mayor 
subject to the approval of three council members (may include the Mayor) for a term of 3 
years. The Capitola Museum's purpose is to promote, through the establishment and 
maintenance of a museum and allied projects, a program that will bring a better understanding 
and appreciation by the Capitola community of its history, architecture, culture, technology, 
and its creative and natural environments. 

The duties of the board as specified in Section 2.28.030 of the Municipal code are: "to advise 
the council and the city manager on the following and related items: financial affairs of the 
museum; general museum administration; formulation of long term museum plans; 
formulation of written policies for acquisition by the city of museum objects; and steps that 
can be taken to bring about a better understanding and appreciation by the Capitola 
community of it' s history, architecture, culture, technology, and its creative and natural 
environment through the promotion of the City's museum and allied projects." 

The Historical Museum Board meets the first Thursday of the month at 5:30 p.m. in the City 
Hall Community Room. 

Planning Commission 

The Planning Commission is a five-member body primarily responsible for making decisions 
about discretionary land use permits. The Plarm.ing Commission also makes 
recommendations to the City Council regarding General Plan, Zoning Ordinance and other 
legislative policy matters, and carries out certain code enforcement duties. The commission 
implements local land use policy through its decisions about whether to approve, 
conditionally approve, or deny applications for use and development of land located within 
the City limits. It is also responsible for other duties consistent with State Planning, Zoning 
and Development Law. 

Each Council member appoints a Planning Commissioner. Planning Conunissioners are 
compensated $250 per month. The telm of the commissioners terminates fourteen days after 
the next regular election of Council Members. Planning Commissioners are required to file 
Statements of Economic Interest forms arumally and to receive ABI234 (ethics) training 
every 2 years. The staff liaison is the COImnunity Development Director. 

IS 



The Plmming Commission meets the first and third Thursday of the month at 7:00 p.m. in the 
Council Chambers. Planning Commission meetings are televised " live" on Capitola 
Community ChaImel 8 and re-broadcast at a later time. 

Village Master Plan Advisorv Committee 

This committee was originally created on November 22, 1994, and has been amended several 
times since then. Resolution No. 3470, adopted June 9, 2005, amended the tenn, categories of 
representation, and extended the committee to June 30, 2009. The Committee is comprised of 
a total membership of 20 individuals representing valious segments of the community. Key 
responsibilities of the Village Master Plan Advisory Committee, as identified by Committee 
Members, are as follows. Input on land use in the Village, review of traffic circulation 
through the Village, development of a Village parking plan, design review of Village 
improvements, Village landscaping, and coordination of a Village Public Art Master Plan. 

The Committee meets 6 to 7 times a year (check web site) on the fourth Tuesday of the 
month. No meetings are typically held during the summer and holiday months. 

Wharf Working Group 

The Wharf Working Group's purpose is the di scussion of issues relevant to the operation, 
maintenance, and livelihood of the Capitola Municipal Wharf. Members include the Public 
Works Director, two council members and wharf business owners. 

The group meets the fourth Tuesday of each month at 12 Noon at the Wharf House Restaurant 
or as detennined by the members of the group. 

16 



CHAPTERS 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

The California Government Code provides that "No public official at any level of state or 
local government shall make, participate in making, or in any way attempt to use an official 
position to influence a governmental decision in which there is a financial interest." 

As of January 1,2003, the California Govenunent Code requires a public official who has a 
disqualifying conflict of interest to take the following steps: (I) Publicly identify the financial 
interest giving rise to the conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest in detail sufficient 
to be understood by the public (however, in so doing, the Council Member is not required to 
specifically identify his or her residence address): (2) recuse him or herself from discussing 
and voting on the matter; and (3) leave the room until after the discussion, vote and any other 
disposition of the matter is concluded unless the matter has been placed on the Council's 
consent agenda and is not pulled for discussion. 

There are two primary laws that govem conflicts of interest for public officials in California -
the Political Reform Act and Government Code Section 1090. 

Annual disclosure statements are required of all Council Members by the Fair Political 
Practice Commission (Government Code Section 81000 et seq.) that indicate potential 
conflicts of interest including sources of income, ownership of property and receipt of loans 
and gifts . The City Clerk provides Council Members with the necessary fom1s by February of 
each year. These statements are required upon assuming office within 30 days, annually and 
upon leaving office within 30 days and are open to public inspection. 

Generally speaking, when a matter comes before a cornmission or committee in which a 
member knows or has reason to know that there is a financial interest, the financial interest 
should be disclosed for the record, the member must disqualify himself or herself and leave 
the room during the discussion. Once disqualified, the member may not be counted toward 
establislunent of a quorum, may not vote and must refrain from attempting to use his or her 
official position to influence the decision. An official does not influence or attempt to 
influence a governmental decision by appearing before an agency, including the one from 
which the official is disqualified, in the same maimer as any other member of the general 
public, i.e., the official may represent himself or herself in speaking to the cOlmnission or 
committee from the floor. 

A member does not have a financial interest in a decision unless it is reasonably foreseeable 
that the decision of the council, commission or committee will have a material effect on: 

Any business entity in which the member or the member's spouse has a direct or 
indirect interest worth more than $2,000. 

Any real property in which the member or the member's spouse has a direct or indirect 
interest worth more than $2,000. 

17 



Any source of income, other than loans by a commercial lending institution in the 
regular course of business, aggregating $500 or more in value received by or promised 
to the member or member's spouse within 12 months prior to the time when the 
decision is made. 

Any business entity in which the member or member's spouse is a director, officer, 
partner, trustee, employee or holds any position of management. 

The rules for determining whether the effect of a decision is material are rather complicated as 
they relate to the effect on a business entity and depend on the dollar amount and the 
relationship to the business. The rules relating to the effect on real property are also somewhat 
complex, but may be summarized as follows: 

If the member or the member's spouse has an interest in real property within 500 feet 
of the property, which is the subject of the decision, the effect is material unless there 
is no financial effect. 

It should be pointed out that the above situation does not constitute a conflict of interest when 
the effect of the decision on the member's financial interest is no different than the affect on 
other members of the public generally. It should be mentioned also that a member does not 
have a conflict of interest due to membership in a non-profit organization such as the 
American Legion, Rotary, Kiwanis, etc., even when the decision would effect that 
organization unless the member either receives income from the organization or can sell his or 
her interest in the property. 

The above is a brief summary of the conflict of interest law. While it is hoped that this 
informal advice will assist members, it does not provide immunity from prosecution, civil or 
criminal, under the Act if the advice should later prove to be incorrect. Only the Fair Political 
Practices Commission can provide such immunity, and only if a member submits a question 
to them in writing and receives a written response. If there is any doubt in a member's mind as 
to whether or not a conflict situation exists, the member should di squalify him or herself and 
not participate in the matter. TIley may also consult with the City Attorney. 

AB 1234 - LOCAL AGENCIES: COMPENSATION AND ETHICS 

February 22, 2005, Assembly Member Salinas introduced AB 1234. On October 7, 2005, AB 
1234 was Chaptered by the Secretary of State as Chapter 700, Statutes of 2005 . AB 1234 
mandates that ethics training be provided by any local agency that pays any compensation, 
salary, or stipend to, or reimburses the expenses of, members of a legislative body. The 
training must be provided to each member of the legislative body, each elected official, and 
any employees who may be designated by an agency to receive the training. After initial 
training, members must be provided training every two years thereafter. Specific topics are 
required to be covered in such training and include gift limitations, honoraria prohibitions, 
conduct upon leaving office, etc. Local official s may fulfill their Ethics Training requirement 
by completing the online course. After completing the online course, officials need to plint 
the certificate and submit it to the City Clerk's Office. Below are website links to the online 
course: http://iocalethics.fupc.ca.gov or http://www. localethics.fppc.ca.gov. 

18 



CHAPTER 6 

THE BROWN ACT - OPEN MEETING LAW 

The Ralph M. Brown Act, which was passed in 1953, has become a public meeting law for 
the State. The opening section of the law states that : 

"In enacting this chapter, the California legislature finds and declares that the public 
cOlmnissions, boards and councils and the other public agencies in this State exist to aid in the 
conduct of the people's business. It is the intent of the law that their actions be taken openly 
and that their deliberations be conducted openly." 

The Act extends to any advisory commission, committee or body of a local agency. Its 
relevant provisions include the following: with some exceptions, meetings of advisory bodies 
must be held within the territory of the local agency, meetings must be open to the public, and 
notice of meetings must be delivered prior to the meeting to the press and public pursuant to 
the provisions of the California Govenunent Code. 

No action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the posted agenda. Exceptions: 

1. An emergency situation exists, (detennined by a majority of the Council) 
2. That the need to take action arose subsequent to the agenda being posted 

(detennined by 4/5 of the Council ; or if less than 4/5 are present, by unanimous 
vote.) 

3. The item was continued to another meeting that was scheduled and posted within 
five days of the original agenda (Cal Govt. Code Section 54954.2). 

A "meeting" takes place whenever a quorum of the commission is present, no matter how 
infonnal, and business is discussed or transacted. This includes study sessions and other 
infOlmal gatherings, but willnonnally not apply to a social gathering. Attendance at general 
conferences involving discussion of broad issues and which officials attend from a variety of 
jurisdictions such as the League of California Cities are not generally considered to be 
"meetings. " 

Existing law provides that any member of a legislative body who attends a meeting of the 
legislative body where action is taken in violation of the Brown Act, with knowledge of the 
fact that a violation occurred, is guilty of a misdemeanor. The new provisions limit the 
penalty to any member who attends a meeting where action is taken in violation of the Act 
"with wrongful intent to deprive the public of infonnation to which it is entitled ... " 
"Action taken" means a collective decision made by a majority of the members of the 
legislative body, a collective conunitment or promise to make a positive or negative decision, 
or an actual vote by the majority of the members on a motion, proposal, resolution, order or 
ordinance. 

Any questions concerning the effect of the Brown Act should be directed to the City Attorney, 
City Manager or City Clerk. 

19 



CHAPTER 7 

CITY ORGANIZATION 

CITY MANAGER 

Under the Council-Manager form of govemment used by the City of Capitola, the City 
Council appoints a City Manager to serve as the City's chief administrative officer and be 
responsible for ensuring the policies of the City Council are implemented. The City Manager 
provides administrative direction and leadership to all City departments. The City Manager's 
Office is responsible for a wide variety of activities including general administration, budget, 
recreation, personnel and labor relations, and the Redevelopment program. The City Manager 
acts in several capacities for the City including but not limited to: Personnel Officer, 
Employee Relations Officer, Emergency Services Director, Executive Director of the 
Redevelopment Agency, and other titles of authority. Furthermore, the City Manager in 
representing the City sits on several boards including but not limited to: Monterey Bay Area 
Selflnsurance Authority, Santa Cruz Consolidation Communications Center, and Work Force 
Investment Board. 

Office of the City Clerk 

The City Clerk is appointed by the City Manager. The City Clerk serves as Clerk to the City 
Council and Secretary to the Redevelopment Agency and Financing Authnrity; responsible 
for the administration of all municipal elections; maintains all official records and documents 
such as Agendas, Minutes, Resolutions and Ordinances (Capitola Municipal Codes) of the 
City Council, Redevelopment Agency, and Commissions and Committees established by the 
City Council, is the main communication point between citizens and the municipal 
government; and other duties as may be directed by the City Manager. 

Personnel 

Although Personnel is not a separate department, it is a function of the City Manager's 
Department. Personnel includes employee recruitment, employee relations and labor 
negotiations. 

Recreation 

The Recreation program is not a department. It too is under the City Manager Department 
and plans, organizes, schedules, markets, oversees and evaluates recreation and leisure 
services offered to the City of Capitola and the broader community beyond the City's borders. 
These services come in a variety of fonnats , including City-staffed programs such as the 
Junior Lifeguard program, Camp Capitola, Summer Aquatics, and approximately 35 Adult 
Sports Leagues, as well as over 1,050 Classes offered by Contract Instructors. The City 
Manager's Department also manages the Capitola Community Center and the Jade Street Park 
Community Gardens. 

20 



CITY ATTORNEY 

The City Attorney is a contract position as ofFYO I/02. The City Attorney represents the City 
as primary Counsel in all legal matters. To this end, the City Attorney provides legal analysis 
and advice on a variety of matters and assists staff with legal issues such as: municipal code 
interpretation, understanding and complying with state and federal laws, drafting various legal 
documents such as agreements, resolutions and ordinances; provides counsel on labor matters 
and employee/employer relations; provides counsel on mobile home rent control; and, acts as 
General Counsel to the Redevelopment Agency. 

OTHER CITY DEPARTMENTS 

The City Departments are: Building, City Manager, Finance, Public Works, Police, and 
Community Development. These Departments provide expertise and service to the members 
of the public, the business community and the City Council. 

Building 

The Building Department provides plan checking and building inspection services to assure 
compliance with the California Building Code. The Building Department also enforces the 
provisions of the State Housing Code and Abatement of Dangerous Building Code. In 
addition, the Building Official serves as the City of Capitola 's Americans with Disabilities 
Act compliance officer and staff to the City's Americans with Disabilities Act Advisory 
Committee. 

Finance 

Finance provides staff support to internal departments, assures legal and financial 
accountability to the public, and provides superior customer service to both internal and 
external clientele. Finance maintains a standard of excellence in financial reporting and 
oversight, and administers all of the City & RDA funds and accounts, as well as the 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. Finance directs the City's finance functions 
including; accounts payable; payroll ; accounts receivable; cash receipts; bank statement 
reconciliation; business licenses; collection of Transient Occupancy Tax; operating budget; 
preparation of financial reports; preparation of monthly Treasurer's Report; and analysis of 
fi scal impact. 

The Police Department carries out implementation of it' s mission to prevent and deter crime 
by the utilization of patrol in response to calls for service; Problem Oriented Policing, projects 
and directed patrol; Detectives perfonning comprehensive investigations and liaison with 
other local law enforcement agencies; parking enforcement; Diversion programs, and city 
wide traffic enforcement. 

2 1 



Community Development 

The Cormnunity Development Department (CDD) advises, administers and implements 
policies established by the Planning Commission and the City Council on matters concerning 
the orderly growth and physical and economic development of the City. CDD is responsible 
for: development services including current plarming, zoning administration and 
implementation of the California Environmental Quality Act; Advanced plarming, the City 
General Plan, and its Housing Element; reviewing and processing of development 
applications, neighborhood conservation in tenns of zoning code compliance; the facilitation 
of provisions for affordable housing via the Redevelopment Agency (RDA) Housing Set
Aside Programs, CDBG (Community Development Block Grant) funding, HOME loans, and 
other RDA programs; provides staff to the RDA, Plarming Commission, and the Architectural 
and Site Review Committee. 

Public Works 

The Public Works Department is composed of four divisions: Streets, Parks, Facilities and 
Fleet Maintenance. 

The Street Division provides for maintenance and improvement of the City' s streets and 
highways. It also provides maintenance of Soquel Creek, Capitola Lagoon, City owned 
buildings and the municipal wharf. Project design and construction along with a pavement 
management program and grant writing is also perfonned by this department. 

The Facilities Division provides for maintenance and operation of all City owned buildings, 
including City Hall, Jade Street Community Center, and the Municipal Wharf. 

The Parks Division is committed to developing and maintaining the City parks in such a 
manner as to allow all members of our community to enjoy these jewels. Using professional 
staff and technologies to maintain top rated playing surfaces, beautiful landscaping and safe 
facilities are top priorities for this division. 

The Fleet Division maintains all mobile equipment for the City III the safest operating 
condition possible while striving to minimize repair times and costs. 

22 



CHAPTERS 

COUNCIL/STAFF RELATIONSHIPS 
CONDUCT AND SUPPORT PROVIDED TO COUNCIL 

This chapter addresses the relationship and conduct between Council Members and staff with 
the intent of the Council to: I) affirm that goveming shall be by the will of the collective 
Council, and 2) establish guidelines for Council and staff to ensure orderly, consistent and 
open City govenunent. 

DIRECTION TO STAFF 

Generally, Council Members shall make requests for work, when convened in public session 
as a Council , to be done through the City Manager. Individual members of the Council shall 
make no attempt to pressure or influence staff decisions, recommendations, workloads and 
schedules and departmental priorities without the prior knowledge and approval of the 
Council as a whole. 

REOUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

Individual Council Members, as well as the Council as a whole shall be permitted complete 
freedom of access to any information requested of staff, and shall receive the full cooperation 
of staff in being provided with any requested information. 

Council Members shall make routine requests for information through the appropriate 
Department Head or City Manager. Complex or comprehensive requests for information shall 
be made through the City Manager. 

GUIDELINES FOR STAFF 

City staff will make every effort to respond in a timely and professional manner to all requests 
made by individual Council Members for information or assistance, provided that in the 
judgment of the City Manager the request is not of a magnitude, either in tenns of workload 
or policy, which would require that it more appropriately be assigned to staff through the 
collective direction of the City Council. 

In tem1S of making this judgment, the following guidelines should be considered: I) the 
request should be specific and limited in scope so that staff can respond without altering other 
priorities and with only minimal delay to other assignments; 2) the request should only 
impose a "one-time" work requirement, as opposed to an on-going work requirement; 3) the 
response to the request should not require a significant allocation of staff resources (generally 
defined as consisting of more than one staff person, or a single staff person working on an 
issue in excess of 1-2 hours); or 4) be of material cost to the City. 

INFORMATION DISTRIBUTION 

In cases where a staff response to an individual Council Member request involves written 
material that may be of interest to other Council Members, the City Manager will provide 
copies of the matelial to all other Counci l Members. 

23 



SUPPORT PROVIDED TO THE CITY COUNCIL 

Clerical Support: General administrative support to the Council Members is provided through 
the City Manager and the City Clerk. 

Office Equipment/Supplies: Council Members are authorized to use City pnntll1g and 
reproduction facilities, stationery, postage and other similar services and supplies provided 
that the use is for City purposes. The use should not interfere with the perfonnance of duties 
by the City' s employees. 

Mail: City Council Members receive a large volume of mail and other materials from the 
public and staff. The City maintains mailboxes for each Council Member. Meeting agenda 
materials are delivered on Fridays before Council meetings. 
Email: Each Council Member can choose to provide their personal email address to be listed 
on the city's website, or they may have a city email address set up so that the public would 
not be able to view the Council Member's personal email address. Email addresses are also 
included on the Council Member List, which is provided to members of the public upon 
request. Council Members must infonn the City Clerk of their email preference and also 
make anangements with the City's Infonnation Systems Specialist to set up their email. In 
addition to an individual email address, a "citycouncil@ci.capitola.ca.us" email address is set 
up, which includes all Council Members and the City Clerk. A link to this email address is 
included on the website. 

Telephone: Each Council Member will receive a City Hall telephone extension number for 
messages from the public. These telephone extensions can be accessed by individual council 
members from their home, office or cell phones. Council Members must make anangements 
with the City Hall Receptionist to set up their personal greeting and receive instructions on 
accessing their messages. Council Member telephone extensions are included on the city's 
website and scrolled on Community Channel 8. If a council member prefers another 
telephone number, other than the City Hall Extension number, to be included on the website 
and/or scroll , that infonnation should be provided to the City Clerk. 

City Hall Extension Voice Mail Instructions: (Complete written instructions are available 
from the Receptionist) 

I. Call 475-5750 
2. Press * 
3. Enter your User ID 
4. Enter your Security Code and Press # 
5. To listen to messages, Press 1 

Council Member Personal Infonnation Available to the Public: Council Member infonnation 
is included on the City' s website, Community Channel 8 scroll , lists provided to the public 
upon request, etc. Council Members will infonn the City Clerk of their personal infonnation 
preferences, including address (City Hall , home or office), telephone, email , agenda packet 
delivery, etc. It will be up to individual council members to infonn the City Clerk when this 
infonnation changes. 

24 



USE OF COUNCIL CHAMBERS & COMMUNITY ROOM 

The Executive Assistant to the City Manager is responsible for maintaining a calendar and 
request for the use of the Council Chambers and the City Hall Community Room. Requests 
for usage of the Jade Street Community Center are made through the Recreation Department. 
Use of the Council Chambers or Community Room for regular meetings by City 
commissions, committees and other advisory bodies shall take precedence over any other 
group or agency. Use of the rooms is available for other Community Groups on a first-come 
first-serve basis after City, City-affiliated and other regular uses are scheduled. 

Originally Approved: 3/27/03 
Updated: 8/04, 1107,9/07 

R:lAdmin PolicieslCouncil Member Handbook Rev 9-07.doc 9/27/2007pam 

25 



Ethics Resources Available 
for Local Officials 

The ABCs of Open Government Laws , 2010. Newly updated! Transparency in government is vital in 
promoting public trust. This pamphlet explains the key provisions of the Brown Act and the Public 
Records Act. Price: $10 for set of 5 pamphlets 

Key Ethics Law Principles, 2009.This handy, four-page pamphlet summarizes the kinds of issues and 
financial interests that ought to trigger a conversation with one's agency counsel about what the law 
requires. The cardstock fo rmat is portable enough to keep with public agency agenda packets and the 
like. Price: $5 for set of 5 pamphlets 

Understanding the Basics of Public Service Ethics : Perk Issues, Including Compensation, Use of 
Public Resources and Gifts, 2009. Th is guide focuses on laws relating to public officials and personal 
advantages and perks . These laws are both complex and sometimes counter-intuitive . A key goal of this 
guide is to alert local officia ls to when to ask for legal advice on how these laws apply in a particular 
situation. Price: $10 

Understanding the Basics of Public Service Ethics: Fair Process Laws and Merit-Based Decision
Making, 2009 . Other ethics laws requ ire that public agency decision-making processes meet minimum 
standards of fairness. For this reason, the laws should be viewed as a floor for conduct , not a ceiling . 
Just because a given course of conduct is legal does not mean that it is ethical (or the public will perceive 
it as such). Price: $10 

Understanding the Basics of Public Service Ethics: Transparency Laws, 2009. There is an adage 
about one's life being an open book. No where is this truer than for public officials and their finances. The 
bottom line is when people join the ranks of public servants , the public gets to learn a great deal about 
their financia l lives. The voters created these disclosure requirements when they approved the Political 
Reform Act in 1974. Price $10 

Understanding the Basics of Public Service Ethics: Promoting Personal and Organizational 
Ethics, 2009. This booklet helps elected officials and agency staff set their sights higher than the 
minimum requirements of the law. It provides concrete steps public sector leaders can take to promote 
ethics not only in their own behaviors, but throughout the ir organizati on . Price $10 

Understanding the Basics of Public Service Ethics: Personal Financial Gain Laws , 2009. Some 
ethics laws require transparency: they provide the public and the media with information on how the 
public's business is being conducted , who is receiving campaign contributions and gifts from whom , and 
what kinds of financial interests a public official has . With transparency laws , the public judges whether a 
public official or group of public officials is acting in a trustworthy. Price: $10 

Walking the Line: What to Do if You Suspect an Ethics Problem, 2005. This pamphlet answers the 
most frequently-posed question to the Institute with an eight-step process. The pamphlet also has a 
comprehensive charts relating to ethics laws and the consequences for violating such laws. Price: $10 

Success in Public Service: What You Need to Know Before You Are Appointed or Elected , 2006. 
This pamphlet is designed to be included in candidate information packets, as well as packets for those 
seeking apPointments to boards and commissions. It provides a brief overview of ethics law 
requirements for those seeking public office. Price: $5 for set of 5 

Win the Right Way: How to Run Effective Local Campaigns in California, 2005. Interested in 
promoting clean campaigns in your city? A collaborative effort with UC Berkeley's Center for Campaign 
Ethics , the book describes how to run a successful and clean campaign for local office . Price: $20 

Visit our Website www.ca-ilg.org for electronic options. 

To order hard copies, please see reverse or visi t www.ca-ilg.org . 



Ethics Order Form 

Unit 
' L ess 10% 

Title of Publications Qty. 
Price 

Quanti ty Total 
Discount 

The ABCs of Open Government Laws (2010) (on ly sold in sets of 5) 
$10 for I 

Set 

Four Page SlIIlIInwy: Key Ethics Law Principles (2009) (only sold in sels $5 for I 
of5) Set 

Underslanding Ihe Basics of Perk Issues, [ncluding Compensalion, Use of $10 
Public Resources and Gift Laws (2009) 

Underslanding Ihe Basics of Fair Process Lmvs and meril-Based $10 Decision-Making (2009) 

Underslanding Ihe Basics of Tramparency Lmvs (2009) $ 10 
Understanding Ihe Basics of Prom01ing Personal & Organizational Ethics $10 (2009) 

Understanding Ihe Basics of Personal Financial Gains Laws (2009) $10 
Understanding the Basics complete sel (executive summary labs, four- $45 page overview and above 5 chapler books) (2009) 

Walking the Line: Whallo Do When You Suspeci an Elhics Problem $10 
(2005) 

Success in Public Service: What You Need to Know Before You are $5 for 1 
Appoil1led of EleCled (2006) (only sold in sels of 5) Set 

Win Ihe Righi Way: How to Run Effeclive Local Campaigns in California $20 (2005) 

Shi[!l2in :;fJ-lnllllling Cha rtres Rush Se rvice Add 3% Subtotal 
Order Amount Add Order Amount Add 

Sales Tax 8.75% SI . S9.99 $3.00 $75 . S 124.99 $13.00 
SIO - S24.99 $7.00 SI25 - $199.99 $16.00 
S25 - 574.99 S9.OO $200 · S349.99 $20.00 Shipping/Handlin g (sec table at le rt) 

$350 and up 8% or tolal Total 
*Q A I~TITY DISCO UNT : 10% pric e discount for fiv e or more units of the sam e set of reso urces (I set is one unit) 

Mail Publica tions to: 

ORGAN IZA TlO N 

TITLE 

ADDRESS (No P.O. Box Please) 

CITY STATE ZIP 

TELEPHONE EMAIL 

PAYMENT MUST BE INCLUDED TO PROCESS ORDER 

Selld Pllymellf willi Order Form 10: 

Institute for Loca l Government 
A 1TN: Publications 
1400 K Street, Suite 205 
Sacramento, CA 95814 

Direct line: (916) 658-8269 

Fax credit card orders to: 
(9 16) 444-7535 

Check VISA __ MasterCard 

Name of Cardholder: ___________________ ___ _ 

Cred it Card Number: ________ ______________ _ 

Expiration Date : __ ' _ ' __ _ Bi ll ing zip code _ ____ _ 

Authorized Signature: 



-
II" I NSTITUTE Ie'" 
" LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

The 

ABC I 
of Open Government Laws I 

The umJ~Tly i nJO philosopb~ <:If !h~ open ,""em men! laws 
is that poblk :lj;cncy pnx:"sses should be as transparenT as 

possible. Such Ir~nsparelll;Y is yilal in promOfinIJ public truSI 

in iovcmment. 

This conc~pl of govemmenml trJ.llsparency is:I<l iUlpur!:Ul1 IV 

the public thul softie 8) pcrcomt of voten; sopport"d adding il to 

Califumia's COIIStilUriOIl by IIdoptinJi: Proposition ~9 in 200J. 

Califl'mia',. upcn Jo;uvcrnlU<'nt laws "-oquin- puNic nflidal.' 1('1: 

A 
Conduct m"""in~s of public bodies openly. except for limited 

circumsttuu:cs u"der which the law 3110w5 the public's 

I>usiness to be conducted privaldy in clos<"d sessions. 

m 
Allow 1111 public to p~rtltip3t. in meetinp of ptlbli<; bodies 

through . public: comment procH$. 

Allow inspe<;tion ~nd copyin!:, of public rq(o,d~, 

ex~cpt wilen non.di sclosu,e is ~1It1l",izl!d b,l~w. 

lbis pamphkt summ;u;7.d these thn:oc requin:mc:n~' in 'o:tll:l"al tmll~. 

L....:~l t)Hi..:i:.U.~ ao; :LIsu ~n~t)ur .. !.:c<.llu ~"n..'ult wilh thdr al:~·ncy 

~tlornc:y' rOT inform:l.tion aboul how thc!IC requiremc:nts apply in 

any ,in:n ~it\l<ltion or more inf=tion about this:ltC~ of the la .... 

I 

The Institute is ~bIt! to m~ke thi' ft!$Ouru ~ni l~ble 10 10(11 oflici~l$ 

Ind others IS a result of much ~ppreci~tt!d ~n~nd~ 1 support !Tom: 

~~ ~!;~~~~:l~~~o~~s~oL~!~~~~o~ 
The In$l;Il.!te is ,rlteful for this ~rm's onJOin, commitment to 

public service eth ics and public service ethics education. 

All dt-cisions rt!J"~rdjn, the final Content oflhls plmphlet Wt!re tilt 

Institute·,. 

:::; 
Co nducting the ..0 
Public's Business in Public \,... 

General Rules 
• EIC-C:lcd IIIId mobl appoinlc:d local-agency bodic:~ _ which 

include many ath"i~ cnmmltlc:1:s - must c:ootluct Iheir 

business in open Dnt! public metlinliS. 

• A "mcctin,l~ is lilly 5iluatioo involving a I11IIjority of B public 

body in which ago:nc:y business is trJllSaI.1ed ()f disl:us!ial.ln 

other words, ~ majority of the body c:annot taU; privately aboul 

a mailer of agency btU~ no marter bow the ~"Ommunicaiioo 

0I."CUlS., wht:ther by tdr:phune or e-m;ril. ur ;n a ioI.otI ~"Offer: :Jql. 

• The public mlll't be informed of 1) the time:md pl:n:e of IIlId 

2) the iss\IC:S to be addressed at eac:h rner:nng, In genc:r.u. 

public oflidalli may only <Ji.:;(.·uu ItIlUltl:1 011 itc'lll$ irn:low..-d 

011 the po>;ted agellua for It rnet:ting. The aoo:nd~ mu:;t be 
posted ~I le;[£t 72 hours in advarn;e of a n:gular mCC"ting anu 

written in a way WI inflJll11l; pcople of what business will 

be discussed. Membefli of the public: rna}' n:quest It c:up}' of 

tlte 1tl:"'"Ua p"".1CkC"t be m;!ilcd tu thtrn :.11 th", rime th", It!:",nu .. 

is po$ted or upon distribution to the governing body. ~·Iany 

local 3, encie5 :liso posl these m~tr:ria\s on their websites. 

Andlor maintain ..... maillist.1lo make Jit'l1das ~vail:Jblc. 

Key Things to Know fI--, 

• ,\dvi.'KIry Bodie.';. Advisory bodies formall)· cre:ilcd by the 

governing body Ill"t! subjcct to the open meeting laws. In 
some cases, c:nuunillC"es of Io:$s thnn a quorum of the public 

body are also subject 10 Ibese 1:11"$. 

• S l'rilt l Ml'Clj "g.~. A,·Did uninto:tuionally l"feating ~ ·'l>eriar· 

meetina,::-a series of communications lhut f!'.sult in a 

majority of the body's members di5~:us:sing . delibemting. or 

takina:: :tetion on a m:tttt'r of ",ency b\Jsjn~;.s. 

+-> 

• Permissibl~ Gatheri ngs. NO! every ,;rtherin" I){ membt:rs 

of a public body ou~'ide. noticed mrcting violates the la"·. 

Foruample. a violation wuuld not IX"(.'ur if a majority of 

!he rne:mbtrs uttt:ntl the $arne: e..tuc:uion:ll conf= or 

ano:nd a meetin, nO{ Olianized by the loc:LI agency as lon, II!) 

nlC111ber.; do not di:>C"\lss among themselves qgen~")" business 

e.'~"eJII as pan of the aathain,. Nor is at!endaoce ;It n 5O<.i.a1 
Of ~-.:renlllllial ... ve-nt in iu.elf a ,·iolation. TbC" bllSic rule 10 

keep in mind is a IIl;ljority of the: memben cart/lOt gatht'r 

",,,1 di.st."US5 ai:ency ~itlt$$ ",xC:ep! at an open alld properly 

notic:ed meeting. 

• Ch>St.'tI St'SI;iuns. The op.:n mc:cIin~ lawl include: pro,ision.\ 

for ph-ale t!isc:\Juioos under '.ery limittd cin;umstw1c:a. Thc: 

reason~ for holding the c1~ sc.l$ion must be nOled on 

the agenda IIJld d ifferent dis.closure ~uirc:rrn:nb apply to 

uiffc:rent types of do!>!:u !>Cuions. 

• Posting :m d Followinlf tbc Al:clIda . ln go:ner.1i. public 

ol1kia!:; may only <.IiM:u:;s and oct un ilCrns indtl'.k.-d olllh.: 

posted <q;tol4l fnf a memo~. Huwever, thty or staff ITlllY 

bri~Hy =pond to qu.:stiOll'l or stat~m~nl.'l during public 

cumm~nl.'llh~l un: unn:laltd Iv the ulenJa ilc-m~. Ullkials 

c:an also requesl staff 10 look into ~ m:lneT or pl~ce:l 

m:lllCT on Ihe agenda for a subsequent 1I"H."'I:lio,. Only under 

unexpected cireumsl:loc:eJ can mattcrS tJt:u an: nO! on the 

ai:t:1Idli be di5CUS~ or acted upon. 

.. Consequences of Non-Compliance with Open 
Meeting Requirements 

• Nulli fiu tion uC Ol,t:ilIioD. Muny decisitms that are not 

made IICCOroin¥ to the opm mtttin¥ law, Ill"t! " oidable. 

Aft ... r D:lking the agency \I) cure: the \' iolatiun, either the 

diSlrictl1l(orney or any inu:restcd pc:n.on lnD.y sue \I) 

have the :u:tioo decl;u-ed invalid. 

• C riminal Sanction:;, Atklilionally. rne:mbeD of th", 

body who inlentionally violale the open meetinG laws 

may be guilty of a misdclIJl"aIIor. lbt perndly for a 

misdemcanor convic:tion is imprisowlIenl in county jllil 

for up \I) six month.. or a 5nc of up to $ 1.000 or both. 

.... Example 

If two mem bers of a livc·membtr public body consult 

ou tside ofa publie meeting (which is not in and ofi"elf 

~ viol~ti o n) about a ma tter of igency business and then 

one of those Individuals consul" with a third member 

on the Sime issue, a majority of the body has consulted 

on Ihat issue. Note the communication does not need 

to be in pcrson and Ci n occur through a th ird patty. Fer 

~umple, sending o. forwardin, ... ·mail Cin be sufficient 

to create a serial meeting. I S cln ~ stlft" mem ber·, polling 

the body's mem bers in a way that .evuls tile members' 

posil ions to one another. 

• Tupin1; Of ReeordinL: or Ml"Ctin~ Is Allowed. Anyone 
~ttc:nding D nu:.:ting l11IIy photopph Of rco;;urU it with Dn 

audiu or video recurUer unless the ,1oveming botly makes a 

lintlinlj. tballht: noise. illumination. or om;lru .. :tion of vic", 

""Ul di.~ru(l{ the inL'eting. Any m~"Ctini: tare ", film l\lade I'oy 
the local agency bec:omes I public recortl thai musl be matle 

a\"ai.\;lble to th ... public for at ieD:l1 3U days. 

• SiL:n. ln Must He Vohml:.ry. Members of the public: cannO{ 

b.: n:quin.'tI til o;gisl~T thdr name or jatidil-d any uther 

condition for altend~ncc. If an atten~nc:c list is used. it mu!t 

dearly state: thOI signin, thc: list b vo luntary. 

• OUter Mcrl.l.mrcs. Either the district attorney or lUIy 
intl:ttSled person may sue: 10 remedy P'I~t lind prevenl future 

\·ioloU0n5 ofthc open rncetina Jaws. Another remedy, 

under eert:rin cireu~ is f« a eoun loorda that all 

elo>ed 5eSSions be tape-n.'CIXded.. Rctulations of p.iblie 

pqrtidp:uion beyond !bose :illowed by applic:able SUIUtory 

lUlU CO!L5I.irutional. pridpal, C:lIII be a civil ri~tl violation. 

• Altornc)·, · f ees and Co~u, Auomeys· fees lUId ensts 

DlIIy be awarded to those who succeufully c:halll':!lgc 

open meelin,l violations. 

A A A 
WWW.(J. i!g.org www.(a.i lg.org www.(a- ilg.org www.(J-ilg.org 



The Public's Right to The Public's Right To Access Beyond legal Minimums Resources for Further Information 
Participate in Meetings Agency Documents and Records 

General Rules 
• I~mocr.tey in Action. The public bas D n&ht LO 00Wns 

llIe public bOOy:1.I any ml-.:tm,. A public Offici:tJ.·5 rol~ is 

to both hear and evaluate i.hest' communkDtions. 

• Th~ t'ublic 's Right 10 be Heard. GC"nc:r.llly. every n:plar 

meetinl alenda must pro"ide an opportunity for tbe public 

to addn:S$ tbe public body on any i!Cm .... ithin the body'~ 

jurisdiction. Irthe il!sue of eoncem is one pendinl hc:fon: 

the body, tbe opptll"\unity must be pr,wided befon: I)r 

durinl the body's eOf1.$ider~tion of that.il!sue. 

Open-Government·ls-Good-Politics Note 

Th,· " ',·CI,' .1,,' hlrhly "l' .• l.1n: In m"~.,<" ,,,,~ ,ump ll .,n:,· 

w.:h up<-" ~OV<''''''' ' ''''1 r ~Gw",·n""lI>-.I "d ~ '" '' I" (~pu-i 
on p,·rc~,·,~d ""I"IIOr., 

Key Things to Know --

• Anonymous Spl'l'ch Must 8f.' Pf.'rmitlf.'d. Member.; 

of the public CJinRlH be ~uim.l to ~';ve their name or 

addre$~ u It coodilion of ~pcakin •. The clerk or presidin. 

oflicer may f\.'qUC51 Spl::Lk~flIlo complete a speaker caro. 

01'" identify themselves ~for the recartl." but mlL't re.'p«t 

a sptaker's desire for anonymilY. 

• R~asunabl" Tlmf.' Limits May H~ Impol;l-d. l..uI;al 

a'enc:ies may adClp' n::lJOnable Z"e,ulations to en~un: 

everyone I\:ls an opportunity 10 be heard in an artIerl)' 

manner. FOI'"CJ[ampic. $Ome 3leneio;mpose a uniform 

rime limit on cach person pro"idin, public comments on 
nn iSliUC. 

• Delliing with Dissens iun. The chiliI' cannot stop 

~peaken; (rom expn:S5inl their opinions or their 

criticism of the body. If an individual Of IrouP will full y 

interrupts a mectin,llnd order cannot be restored. ihe 

room m"y he ele:u-cd. Memhen; of the rncdiu must he 

• Uuwed tu rem:.in lind unly matters un the IIgenda can 

he discussed. 

General Rules 

• Public IIl1encie~ must ,eneruUy D1IIke lheir rec:ortls 

. ' .ibble fUT impcction hy the puhlic. Di.s<:losure is the 

role; withholdin. is the exception. In .ddition, there lII"e Ii 

numb, .. r of SUite laws thall'l:'quire affinuativ.· ui.'lClo~urc of 

certain kinds of information (for eumple. by posting thl: 

inform:uiun on the "gency's website ). 

Key Things to Know or-. 

• ' \ J:f.' llda lind l't'h-eling i\.'iIIleria ls. Copi~ of the 311encia 
ma1erials anu other documenu not e.\cmpl from uisclosLln' 

dil;tributc:d to!ht: hody must ~ availllhlc to the ]"I\Ibli~. Any 

nonexempt materials ptepvcd by the loc~ 1 w]Jency must he 
.VBilub]e for public inspet."1ion at the meeting. Materials 

prepared:md distributed by:wme other pei"SOn muS1 be made 

3"ailuble after the n~ting. 

• Scope of A CCl'lili . The public h:l5 the n]lht 1O:iCC nonexempt 

materials th:lt an: cn:aled :IIi part uf the conduct of the 

people's businells. These llUI1erial$ include any writinl that 

.... a:o; prepared. owned. U5cd. or n:tained by a public agenc)'. 

This ("lUI include documents. compulerdutu, e·lIl:1il:;. 

facsimiles, IUld p/lolOgnphs. 

• Presumpti"n llll d EXf.'f.'ptions. wnnen material\: arc 

presume-tlto 00 11 public reeartl unless an excepfion 

applics. There urt II number of exctplions. For example. 

pcrwnnd records lire Typically exempt from discluSUR: 

becau.~e their relca5e may vioillte an employee's 

privacy nlOhts. 

The public's righl of ac~~ to public n:curds is brood]y COIlSUUetl 

am.l applies 10 many documcn~~!luIt public offiL"iais mi¥ht 

()\her .... ise assume IICl.' protcctal from dilido~ure. 

.... Consequences ofVio/ation 

Anyone un s~e the agene, to enforce his or her right to 

access public records s ubje<:llo disclosure. If the agency 

loses or otherwise produces the records as the result of the 

law$uit, it muSI pay COSIS and allorney, f~$. 

It is impon:mt to note: that the requirements d~ in this pamphlet 

IICl.' lela] minimum:; for loca] a;o"emmem lr.Inspa.n:n~y in dl"Cision

malinll. Local aiCnciCll can provide for , reater It:Illlipg.rency. 

In thinking about ho .... an aleney might pro,ide for iI1:utcr 

tr:tn.~parency. qUl'S!iOIlli Io.:a l ~I:-cncy ofticialll mi!jhl ponder include 

the foUowil\i: 

How c~n the agency make ]"I\Iblic infonnation more readily 

~vHiI!lble and ea.si]y undenumdable by lhe puhlic in order 

1U promote public tru.'ll1ml eonlio.lcnw in the al:~ncy and 

demons1l1ltc the aa:ency's cummiunent to Ir.lllsparcncy? 

2 Are there kinds of information that an: alrelldy public ly 

a"rulahle in some form. but could be mwJe aniloble 

rnl>tC COil' cniently to lhe public (for eumplc. throullb 

"oluntarily posting the informntion on the agency's ""'ebsill: 

uf inc!udinll: lino on!ht: agency's webs ite to where 

information is 3v.il~ble on otber websites)? 

3 What kinLis of infurmation mi"'t be of interest tu a croli5i

seo..1.iUD uf the public n:luting 10 the agem:y's operotions and 

<ltcision-malcing pruo.:esses? An: thtre ways this infmmatiun 

can he made available without indi"iLiual member.; of the 

public havinll to ask for it? 

Ongl.ina: consider-uion of these: kinlis uf lIu~tioD.li enables a local 

agency's uflidltls lu "n.age in cullc'l:tiv" dil!l;ussioo ami u.:eil!ion· 

ma1:inij aboot ways in which thtir aijetll')' can set its silOhtlli hightr 

than the minimum requin:mtms of the law. 

.... A Note on Civility in Public Discourse 

For communities to ~ able to work througn difficu lt 

issues, if s important lh~ t people be able to express 

differing opinions about what best seNes the public's 

interests in a respe~tru l and ci~i l manner. 

This ineludes focusing on tne merifs of one', po, ition. 

Even If people disagree about what', ~st ror the 

community In th is situation, it doesn't mean thaI those 

holdinll different .,ews ue bad people. Trea l others 

~ilh the same /espect as one wo ul d like to be trra ted. 

Questioning others' motivu or intell igence, being 

hos tile, enllagin, in nam4!-Ca ll ing or maki n, threats 

~ndefmine, one 's effectiveness . 

No maner how passionate one is aboul an ;",",e, the goal is 

to conduct oneself in a way that wi!! add to one's credibi lity 

and standing is a thoughtfu l member of the community. 

California's opeu sovemment laws are complex and eXlensi\·e. 

Cousult the following resoun;"t"s for more information uo 

thest luws. 

• Underslal.1din ij the B'lSin "j Public Se .... ·ice Ethit"~: 
Tra/fs('flff'lr')' Luws. availllble ~t ,,-w,",'.cQ. il,ll..orW 

transpartllC)' (iIKludts discussions of other kinlis of 

disc losure IIIWS, ;1\ addition to Open MtctilllO UW and 

Publi c R~ords Act). 

• O[H'n anJ Public IV; A UlUS GIII'Jt to tlte Rulplt M. 
Hn)!>"" A~·/. 2J Edition. 2010. Amilable on the lca.ue of 

C~!ifomia Cilies .... eb~ile at ... " ' .... udli ~s.o'1: or by ~allinij 

916.558.1!200. 

• The Peaplt' ~ BU.lint'u; A Guide to Ille en/i/o,.,.,"o Publi<' 

H,rcorri •• A<·t, 2001!. AVlli!able 011 the Le~sue of Califomia 

eilie, website lit w ....... clldties.orl: or by ca1!inlO 

916.6S8.!l200. 

Local official. ~huulu also Con<UI1 their a~ency C<lun.<;cl witl! 

questions. 

The Anomey Generul al&O orren guide. on these la ... ·s; they lire 

Ivaibblc from the AtlOmty GeneruJ'. wehsite; http://u,Il.. (":q:ovl 

pubJielltions/2003_ lntro_ Brown,\ el.pdr (Brown Act Guide) 

;md http ://ag.fa.gov/puhlicalioJ\sl2003_lnlro_8ro ... nt\ct.pdr 

(Public Records Act). 

III!!I I NSTlTUTE FOR 
II.!! LOCAL GOVERN MENT 

The Institu te for Local Covernmenl promotes good 

government at the IOCOIII~I!I with practical, impartial, and 

easy·to-use resources for Ca lifornia communitiu. 

rLG is the researd1 and eduation affiliate of the CalifOrnia Stale 

Association of Counties and the Lugue of California Cl lies . 

1400 KSn~fT, SV IH 205 

S ... CM M ENTO, c...llfO~NI'" 9581 4 

T U EPHOH! : 916.65g.8208 • F ...... : 916.444.7535 







Rosenberg's Rules of Order: 
Simple Parliamentary 
Procedures for the 21st Century 

~ rules of procedure at meetings 1 :l~ould be simple enough for most 
people to understand. Unfortunately, 
that hasn't always been the casco Virtu
ally all dubs, associat ions, boards. coun
ci ls and bodies fo llow a set of rules, 
Robert's Rules o/Order, which arc em
bodied in a small but complex book. 
Virtual ly no one I know has actual ly 
read th is book cover to cover. 

\'(Iorsc yet, the book was wrinco for 
another t ime and purpose. If you arc 
running the British Parliament, Robert's 
Rules afOrder is a dandy and quite usc
ful handbook. On the oLher hand, if 
you're running a meet ing of a five

member body with a few members of 
the public in :mcndancc, a simplified 

version of the rules of parliamentary 
procedure is in order. Hence, dle birth 
of "Rosenberg's Rules of Order." 

This publication covers lhe ru les of 
parliamentary procedure based on my 
20 years of experience chairing meetings 
in srale and local govern ment. These 
rules have been simplified and slimmed 
(Iown for 2 1st century meetings, yet 
they retain the basic (eners of order to 
which we are accusmlTIed. 

"Rosenberg's Rules of Order" arc sup
ported by the followin g four principles: 

I . Rules 5hould establish order. The 
first purpose of tbe rulcs of parlia
mentary procedure is to establish a 

framework for the orderly conduct 
of meetings. 

2. Rules 5hould be clear. Simple rules 
lead to wider underSl:lnding and 
participation. Complex rules create 
two classes: those who understand 
and participate and those who do 
not fu lly understand and do not 
full y participate. 

3. Rules should be user-friendly. That 
is, the rules must be simple enough 
that citizens feel they have been able 
to participate in the process. 

4. Rules 5hould enforce the will of 
the majority while protecting the 
rights of the minority. The ultimate 
purpose of the rules of procedure is 
to encourage discussion and to faci li
tate decision-making by the body. In 
a democracy, the majority rules. T he 
rules must enable Llle majority to 

express iuclf an(1 r.1sition a result, 
while permitting the minority to also 
express iuclf (but not dominatc) and 
fully participatc in the process. 

The Chairperson Should Take a 
Back Seat During Discussions 

\Xlh ile aU members ofthe governing 
body should know and understand the 
rules of parliamentary procedure, it is 
the chairperson (chair) who is charged 
with applying me rules of conduct. 
The chair should be well ve rsed in those 

There are exceptions to the general rule of free 
and open debate on motions. The exceptions all 
apply when there is a desire to move on. 

by Dave Rosenberg 

rules. because the chair, for aU imems 
and purposes, makes the final ruling on 
the rules. In fact, aU decisions by the 
chai r arc final unless overruled by the 
governing body irself. 

Because the chair conducu the meeting, 
it is common courtesy for the chair to 
rake a less act ive ro le than other mem
bers of the body in debatcs and di scus
sions. Th is does 110t mean that the chair 
should nor participate in the debate or 
discussion. On the comrary, as a mem
ber of the body, the chair has full rights 
to participate in debates, discussions 
and decis ion-making. T he chair should, 
however, ltrivc to be the last to speak at 
the discussion and debate stage, and 
should nO{ make or second a motion 
un less he or she is convinced that no 
other member of rhe body wi ll do so. 

The Basic Fonnat for an 
Agenda Item Discussion 

Formal meetings normally have a wrincn, 
published agenda; informal meetings 
may have only an oral or understood 
agenda. In either case, the meet ing is 
governed by dl C agenda and the agenda 
const itutes dle body's agreed-upon road 
map fo r the meeting. And each agenda 
item can be handled by the dlair in the 
following basic for mac. 

Fiut, tbe chair should clc-.uly announce 
the agenda item number ami should 
clearly SGUC what the subject is. T he 
chai r should then announce tbe format 
that wi ll be followed. 

Second, following that agenda format, 
the chai r should invite the appropriate 
people [0 report on the item, including 
any recommendation they might have. 
The appropriate person may he the 
chai r, a member of the govern ing body, 

www.caclties.org 1 



Rosmbergi Rules o[Order: Simple Pnrliml1elltnry Procedure for the 2 1st emt"" 

a staff person, or a comminee chair 
charged with providing information 
aboUl the agenda item. 

Third, the chair should ask members 
of the body if Lhey have any tecllllical 
questions for clarification. At this point, 
members of the governing body may ask 
clarifying questions to the people who 
reponed on the item, and they should 
be given time to respond. 

Fourth, the chair should invite public 
comments or, if appropriate at a formal 
meeting, open the meeting to public 
input. If numerous members of the pub
lic inclic., te a desire to speak to the sub
ject. the chair may limit the time of each 
public speaker. At the conclusion of the 
public comments, the chair should ann
ounce that public input has concluded 
(or that the public hearing, as the case 
may be, is closed). 

Fifth, the chair should invite a motion 
from the governing body members. The 
chai r should announce the name of the 
member who makes rhe motion. 

Sixth, the chair should determine if any 
member of the body wishes to second 
the motion. The chair should announce 
the name of the member who seconds 
the motion. It is norma ll y good practice 
for a motion to require a second before 
proceeding with it, to ensure that it is 
not just one member of the body who 
is interested in a particular approach. 
However, a second is not an absolute 
requirement, and the chair can proceed 
with consideration and a vote on the 
motion even when there is no second. 
This is :l m:mer left to the di scretion 
of the chair. 

Seventh, ifthe motion is made and sec
onded, the chair should make sure every
one underS('ands the motion. This is 
done in one ofthree ways: 

1. The chair can ask the maker of the 
motion (0 repeat it; 

2. The chair can repeat the motion; or 

3. The chair can ask the secretary 
or the clerk ohhe body {O repeat 
the motion. 

2 League of California Cities 

Eighth, the chair should now invite djs
cussion of the motion by the members 
of the governing body. If there is no 
desired discussion or the discussion has 
ended, the chair shoul<! an nounce that 
the body will vote on the motion. If 
there has been no discuss ion or a ve ry 
brief discussion, the vote should proceed 
immediately, and lhere is no need {Q re
peat the motion. If cllere has been sub
stantial discussion , it is normally best to 

make SUTe everyone understands the 
motion by repeating it. 

Motions arc made in a simple two-step 
process. First, the chair recognizes the 
member. Second, the member makes a 
motion by preceding the member's 
des ired approach with the words: "I 
move ... " A typical motion might be: 
"I move lhat we give to days' notice in 
the future for all OUT meetings." 

The chair usually initiates the motion by: 

I. Inviting the members to make a 
motion: "A motion at cllis time 
would be in order." 

Debate on policy is healthy; debate on personalities 
is not. The chair has the right to cut 0[[ discussion 
that is too personal, too loud or too crude. 

Ninth, the chair tak.es a vote. Simply 
asking for the "ayes" and cllen the "nays" 
is normally sufficient. If members of Ule 
body do not vole, then they "abstain." 
Unless the rules of the body provide 
otherwise or unless a super-majority is 
req uired (as delineated later in these 
rules), a simple majority determines 
whether the motion passes or is defeated. 

Tenth, the chair should announce the 
result of the vote and should announce 
what action (if any) the body has taken. 
In announcing the result, Ule chair 
should indicate the names of the mem
bers. if any, who voted in the minority 
on the motion. This announcement 
miglu take the following form: "The 
motion passes by a vote of 3-2. with 
Smith and Jones di ssenting. \Vle have 
passed the mUlion requiring 10 days' 
notice for all [mUTe meetings of this 
governing body." 

Molions in .General 

Motions arc the vehicles for decision
making. It is usually best to have a mot
ion before the governing body prior to 
discussing ~U1 agenda item, to help every
one focus on the mOlion before them. 

2. Suggesting a motion to the members: 
"A motion would be in order that we 
give IO-days' notice in the future for 
all our meetings." 

3. Making the motion. 

As noted , the chair has every right as a 
member of the body (O make a motion, 
but normally should do so only if he or 
she wishes a motion to be made but no 
other member seems wi lling to do so. 

The Three Basic Motions 

Three motions arc the most common: 

1. The basic motion. The basic motion 
is the one that puts forward a deci
sion for consideration. A basic mot
ion might be: ") move that we create 
a five-member comm irtee to plan 
and put on our annual fundraiser." 

2. The motion to amend. If a member 
wants to change a basic motion that 
is under discussion, he or sile would 
move to amend it. A mouon to 

amend might be: "I move that we 
amend the morion (Q have a 10-
member comminee." A motion to 
amend takes dIe basic motion that is 
before the body and seeks to change 
it in some way. 



3. The substitute motion. If a membcr 
wants to complctely do away with 
the bas ic motion undcr discussion 
and pm a new mOlion bcfore the 
governing body, hc or she would 
"move a substinlle motion." A substi
nne motion might be: "I move a sub
stitute motion that we cancel tbe 
annual flUldraiscr this yeaL" 

Motions {Q amend and substitute mo
tions arc oftcn confuscd. Bm they are 
quitc different, and so is thcir effect, 
if passed. 

A motion to amend seeks to rctain the 
basic motion on thc noor, but to modify 
it in some way. 

A substi tU[c mmion sceks to throw out 
tbe basic motion on the noor and substi 
tute a new and diffcrent motion for it. 

Thc dccision as to whethcr a motion is 
realJ ya motion to amend or a substitutc 
motion is left to lhe chair. So dlat if a 
member makes what dlat mcmber caUs a 
motion to amend, but thc chair dctcr
mines it is really a substitute motion, d lc 
cbair's des ignation governs. 

When Multiple Motions Are Before 
The Governing Body 

Up to duee mmions may hc on the Aoor 
simultancously. Thc chair may rcjcct a 
fourth motion umil the thrcc that arc on 
thc Aoor havc bccn resolved. 

\'Vllcn two or thrce motions arc on thc 
Aoor (after motions and seconds) at 
tbc S:lme time. thc first vote should be 
on the /IUI motion madc. So , for exam
ple. aSSllme mc first motion is a basic 
"motion to havc a five-member commit
tee to plan and put on our annllal fund
raiser." During the lliscussion of this 
motion, a member might make a second 
morion to "amcnd thc main motion to 
havc a to-mcmber committee. no t a 
fivc-member commiuec, to plan and 
put on our annual fundra iser. '" And per
haps. during that discussion. a member 
makcs yet a th ird motion as a "substitutc 
motion that we nO{ havc an annual 
h.ll1draisc r th is year." The propcr procc
dure would be as follows. 

ROIenb~rgI Rules o/Order: Simple Pl1rliam~lJtary Procedure for tbe 2 1st CenlJlry 

First, the dlair would deal with [he 
tbird (dlc last) motion on the noar, the 
substitutc motion. After d iscuss ion and 
debatc , a votc would bc taken first on 
the third motion. If the substitute 
motion PIl1It!S, it would be a substitute 
for the basic motion and would elimi
nate it. The first motion would be moot. 
as would thc second motion (which 
souglu to amend the first motion), and 
thc action on dIc agenda item would bc 
complcte. No vote would be taken on 
thc first or second motions. O n thc 
othcr hand. if the substitute motion (thc 
third motion) foiled. the chair would 
proceed to consideration of the second 
(now thc las t:) motion on the Aoor, thc 
motion to amend. 

If thc substitute motion fa.i led . the 
chair would thcn deal with rhe second 
(now the last) motion on the Hoar. 
the motion to amcnd. T he discussion 
and debatc would focus strictl y on the 
amendment (should the committee bc 
fi ve or 10 members). If the motion to 
amend passed, d,e chair would now 
move to consider the main motion (the 
fi rst motion) as IIlnended. If the motion 
to amend fa iled. U1C chair would now 
move to consider the main motion 
(the fi rst motion) in its original format. 
not amcnded. 

To Debate or Not to Debate 

The bas ic rule of motions is that they 
arc subjcct to discussion and debate. 
Accordingly. basic motions. mo tions to 

amend. and substitutc mOlions arc all 
el igible. cach in uleir tu rn. for full dis
cussion before and by the body. The 
debate can continue as long as mcmhers 
of thc body wish to discllss an itcm, sub
ject to the decision of the chair that it is 
lime to move on and take action. 

There arc cxceptions to the general rule 
of free and opcn debate on motions. T he 
exceptions all apply whcn there is a 
desire of the body to move on . Thc fol
lowing motions are not dcbatable (lhat 
is. when [he following motions are madc 
and seconded. tbe cbair must immedi 
ately call for a vote of the body without 
debate on d,c motion): 

A motion to adjourn. This motion, if 
passed. requires the body to immediately 
adjourn to its nex t regularl y scbeduled 
mecting. This motion rcquires a simple 
majori ty vo te. 

A motion to recess. T his motion, if 
passed, requires the body to immediately 
take a recess. Normally, the chair dcter
mines the Icngul of the recess, which 
may range from a few minutes to an 
hour. It requires a simple majori ty votc. 

The challenge [or anyone chairing a public meet
ing is to accommodate public input in a timely 
and time-sensi tive way, while maintaining steady 
progress through the agenda items. 

Third. thc chair would now dcal widl 
thc first motion that was placcd on the 
Hoar. The original motion would cithcr 
bc in its original format (fivc-mcmber 
committec) or. if amended. would be in 
its amcndcd format (I O-membcr com
mittec). And the qucstion on thc Hoor 
for discussion and decision would bc 
whcther a commince should plan and 
put on the annual rundraiscr. 

A motion to fix the time to adjourn. 
This motion. if passcd. requires the body 
to adjourn the meeting at tI,C spccific 
time set in tI,C motion. For examplc, the 
motion might be: "I move we adjourn 
this mccting at midniglu." It requires a 
simple majority votc. 

A motion to table. This motion. if 
passed. rcquires discussion of the agenda 
item [Q be halted and dIe agenda item to 

www.cacities.org 3 



Rosenberg's Rules of Order: Simple Parliamentary Procedure for the 2 J sl Cent"ry 

be placed on "hold ." T he motion may 
conta in a speci fic time in which the 
item can come back to tbe body: " I 
move we table th is item umil our regu
lar meeting in October." Or tbe motion 
may contain no specific time for the 
return of the item, in which case a 
mot ion [0 take the item off the [able 
and bring it back [0 rhe body will have 
to be taken at a future meeting. A 
motion (0 table an item {or (0 bring it 
back to the body) requires a simple 
majori ty vote. 

A motion to limjt debate. T he most 
common form ofth is motion is to say: 
" I move the previous question" or "I 
move the question" or "( caU for the 
question." When a member of the body 
makes such a motion, the member is 
really saying: "I've had enough debate. 
Let's get on wi th the vote." When such 
a mot ion is made, the cha ir should ask 
for a second to the motion, s{QP debate, 
and vote on the motion to li mit debate. 
T he mo tion to limi t debate requires a 
[wo-thiIds vote of the body. Note that a 
motion to limit debate could include a 

time li mit. For example: "I move we 
li mit debate on this agenda item to 
15 minuees." Even in this format, the 

the motion fails. If one member is ab
sent and the vote is 3-3, the motion 
still fails. 

All motions require a simple majori ty, 
but there arc a few exceptions. The 
exceptions occur when the body is 
taking an action that crTecti vely cues 
off the ab il ity of :1 mino ri ty of the body 
to take an action or discuss an item. 
T hese extraord inary motions require a 
two-th irds majority (a super-majori ty) 
to pass: 

Motion to Limit debate. \Vhether a 
member says, " I move [be previous 
question ," " I move the question," "I 
call for the question" or "I move to limit 
debare," it all amounts to an an empt to 
cue off the ab ili ty of the minority to dis
cuss an item , and it requires a two-thirds 
vote to pass. 

Motion to close nominations. \Vhen 
choosing officers of the body, such as the 
cbai r, nominations are in order either 
from a nominat ing commiuee or from 
the noor of the body. A motion [0 close 
nominations effectively cuts off the right 
of the minority to nominate officers, 
and it requires a two-thi rds vote 
to pass. 

T f you are running the British Parliament, 
Robert 's R~des of Order is a dandy and quite 
useful handbook. 

motion to li mit <Iebate requ ires a two
thi rds vote oftbe body. A similar mOl
ion is a motioll 10 objeci to cowideTlitioll 
of 'l1l item. This mOlion is not debatable, 
and if passed, precludes the body from 
even considering an item on the agenda. 
It also requ.i res a two-thirds vote. 

Majority and Super-Majority Votes 

In a democracy, decisions arc made with 
a simple majority vote. A tic vote means 
the motion fa ils. So in a seven-member 
body, a vote of 4-3 passes the motion. A 
VOlC of 3-3 witll one abstention means 

4 League of California Cities 

Motion to object to the consideration 
of a question. Normally, such a motion 
is unnecessary, because the objectionable 
ilem can be tabled or defc~ued straight 
up. However, when members of a body 
do not even want an item on the agenda 
to be considered , then such ~I mocion 
is in order. It is not debat~tb le, and it 
requires a two-th irds vote to pass. 

Motion to suspend the rules. T his 
motion is debatable, but requires a two
th irds vote [0 pass. If [he body has its 
own rules of order, conduct or proce
dure, [his motion allows the body to sus-

pend the rules for a particular purpose. 
Par cxample, the body (a priva te club) 
might have a rule prohibiting the atten
dance at meetings by non-club mem
bers. A motion to suspend the rules 
would be in order to allow a non-club 
member to auend a meeting of the club 
on a particular date or on a particuJar 
agenda item . 

The Motion to Reconsider 

There is a special and unique motion 
that requires a bit of explanation al l by 
itself: the motion to reconsider. A tenet 
of parl iamentary procedure is finality. 
After vigorous discussion, dcbate and 
a VOle, there must be some closure to 

thc issue. And so, after a Vale is taken, 
the matter is deemed closed , subject 
only to reopening if a proper motion 
to recons ide r is made. 

A motion to reconsi<ler requi res a 
majority vote to pass, bUl there arc 
two special rules that ap ply on ly to 
the motion to reconsider. 

First is the maner of timing. A morion 
to reconsider must be made at lhe meet
ing where the item was fi rst vo ted upon 
or at the ve ry next mee ting ofthe body. 
A motion to reconsider made at a later 
t ime is untimely. (T he body, however, 
C:1I1 always vote to suspend the rules 
and, by a tw o-thirds majority, allow a 
motion (Q reconsider to be made at 
another time.) 

Second, a motion to reconsider may be 
made only by certain members of the 
body. Accordingly, a mmion to recon
sider may be made only by a member 
who voted ill the 11uljorit] on the origi
nal motion. If such a member has a 
change of heart, he or she may make the 
motion to reconsider (any other mem
ber of the body may second the motion). 
If a member who voted ill the minority 
seeks to make the motion to reconsider, 
it must be ruled out of order. T he pur
pose of th is rule is fina li ty. If a member 
of tile minority could make a marion [Q 

reconsider, then the item could be 
brought back [Q the body again and 
again, which would defeat the pwpose 
of finality. 



I r l.he motion ro reconsider passes, then 
thc original maHcr is back before the 
body, and a new original mOlion is in 
order. The maHer may be discussed and 
debated as if it were on t.he floor for the 
first time. 

Courtesy and Decorum 

The ru les of order arc meant to create 
an atmosphere where the members of 
the body and the members of the public 
can anend to business efficiently, fairly 
and with full participation . And at the 
same lime, it is up (Q the chair and the 
members of lhe body to maintain com
mon courtesy and decorum . Unless dle 
setting is very informal, it is always best 
for only one person at a lime [0 have 
the Roor, and it is always besl for every 

Rosenberg's Rules of Order: Simple Parliamentary Procedure for the 21st Century 

It is usually best to have a motion before the gov
erning body prior to discussing an agenda item , 
to help everyone focus . 

lege relate [0 anything lhat would inter
fere with lhe normal comfort of the 
meeting. For example, the room may 
be lOO hot or roo cold, or a blowing 
fa n might interfere with a person's 
abi li ty lO hear. 

Order. The proper interruption would 
be: "Poim of order." Again, the chair 
would ask the irucrrupler lO "state your 
peine" Appropriate points of order 

Withdraw a motion. During debate 
and discussion of a motion. the maker 
of the mOlion on the Roor, at any time. 
may interrupt a speaker to withdraw 
his or her motion from the floor. The 
motion is immediately deemed with
drawn , although the chair may ask the 
person who seconded the motion if 
he or she wishes to make the motion , 
and any other member may make the 
mOlion if properly recogni7..cd . 

Motions to am end and substitute m oti ons are 
often confused. But th ey are quite different, and 
so is their effec t, if passed. 

Special Notes About Public Input 

The rul es outlined here help make meet
ings ve ry public-friendl y. But in addi 
lion, and particularl y for the chair, it is 
wise to remember three special rules that 
apply to each agenda item: 

speaker to be first recognized by the 
chair before proceeding to speak. 

The chair should always ensure that 
debate and discuss ion of an agenda item 
focus on lhe item and the policy in ques
[ion, not on the personalities of the 
members ohhe bod y. Debate on policy 
is healthy; debate on personalities is nor. 
The chai r has the right lO cut off discus
sion that is too personal, too loud or 
[00 crude. 

Debate and discussion should be fo
cused, but free and open. In the interest 
of time, the chair may, however. limi t 
the time alioned [0 speakers, including 
members of the body. Can a member of 
the body interrupt the speaker? The 
general rule is no. There are, however, 
exceptions. A speaker may be interrupt
ed for the following reasons: 

Privilege. The proper interruption 
would be: "Point of privilege." The chair 
would then ask the interrupter to "state 
your point." Appropriale poims of privi-

relate to anyth ing that would no t be 
considered appropriate conduct of the 
meeting; for example. if the chair moved 
on to a vote on a motion that permits 
debate without al lowing that di scuss ion 
or debate. 

Appeal. If the chair makes a ruling that 
a member of the body disagrees with, 
that member may appc.1J the nLiing of 
the chair. If the motion is seconded and 
after debate, if it passes by a simple 
majority vote, then the ruling of the 
chair is deemed reversed. 

Call for orders of the day. This is sim
ply another way of saying, "Let's return 
to the agenda." If a member believes that 
the body has drifted from the agreed
upon agenda, such a call may be made. 
It does not require a vote , and when the 
chair discovers that the agenda has not 
been followed, the chai r simply reminds 
the body to return to the agenda item 
properly before them. Ih lle chair fails 
to do so, tile chair's determination may 
be appealed. 

Rule One: TeU the public what the body 
will be doing. 

Rule Two: Keep the public informed 
while the body is doing it. 

Rule Three: \Vhen the body has acted, 
lel l the public what the body <lid . 

Public input is essential lO a heal thy 
democracy, and community participa
tion in public meetings is an important 
clement of that inpul. The challenge for 
anyune chairing a publ ic meeting is to 

accommodate public input in a timely 
and time-sens itive way, whi le maintain
ing steady progress through the agenda 
items. The rules presented here for con
ducling a mecting arc offered as tools for 
crfeclive leadership and as a means of 
developing sound public po licy . • 

www.cacities.org 5 



SKU 1533 

$5.00 

To order additional copies of this 

publication, call (916) 658-8257 or 

visit www.cacitles.org/store. 

© 2003 League of California Cilies. 

All rights reserved. 

1400 K Street 

Sacramento, CA 95814 

(916) 658-8200 

Fax (916) 658-8240 

www.cacilies.org 



The Riggins Rules 

Suggested Do's and Don't's for the Conduct of Public Hearings and the Deportment of Members of 
Boards, Commissions & Other Bodies. 

By Fred Rigg ins - Former Chairman of the Phoenix, Arizona Planning Commission 

1. Don't accept an appointment or nomination to a Board, Commission, or Council un less you 
expect to attend 99.9999 percent of the regular and special meetings, includ ing inspection trips, 
briefings and public functions where your presence is expected. 

If your participation fai ls below 85 percent during any 6 month period , you should tender your 
resignation. You aren't doing your j ob. You aren't keeping well enough informed to make intelligent 
decisions, and you are making other people do your work for you and assume your not inconsiderable 
responsibility . Your effectiveness and t he regard given to your opinions by other members will be in 
direct rat io to your attendance. 

2. Do create a good impression of city government. Remember that this is the first important 
contact that many of the people in the audience have had with the administration of their city and for 
some, this is the most important matter in wh ich they have ever been involved. Many will never be 
back again and many will never have another such contact and experience. Your performance will 
create in their m inds the picture, wh ich they will always carry with them of "the way the city is run. " 
Make it as pleasant and comforting a picture as possible. 

3 . Do be on time. If the hearing scheduled at 7 :30, the gavel shou ld descend at the exact hour, and 
the bearing begun, if there is a quorum. If you have to wa it ten minutes for a quorum and there are 
100 people in the room, the straggler has wasted two full working days of someone's time besides 
creating a very bad beginning for what is a very important occasion for most of those present 

4. Don't dress like a bum. Shave, wear a t ie and remember t hat a coat is never out of place. The 
people in the aud ience think you are a very important person. Don't disappoint them by your 
appearance, conduct, and attitude. 

5. Don't mingle with friends, acquaintances, unknown applicants or objectors in the audience 
before t he meeting & during a recess peri od, if it can be politely avoided. You will invari ably create the 
impression with the un informed that there is something crooked going on, especially when you vote 
favorably on the case of the applicant you were seen conversing with. When t he other fe llow's case 
comes up and you deny it, he says, "Well, it's easy enough to see that you've gotta know the righ t 
people if you ever expect to get anywhere around here." Save your socializing for some other time 
and place. 

6 . Don't discuss a case privately and as a single member of a body wit h an applicant or objector 
prior to the filing and prior to the hearing if it can be pol itely avoided. In the event that it is not 
avoidable, and many times it is not, be very non-committa l, don't be too free with advice and by all 
means explai n that you are only one member of the body. That you have not had an opportunity to 
study the matter thoroughly, that you have not seen the staff recommendation, and that you have no 
way of knowing what opposition there may develop or what will occur at the public hearing. 

Be certa in that th e person concerned understands that you cannot commit yourself in any manner, 
except to assure him that he may expect a fair and impartial hearing. Even if the case looks pretty 
good to you it is wise to be pessimistic about the chances of securing approval. If you give him 
encouragement and any advice and he is then denied, he will hate you until your dying day and tell 
everyone in town that he did just exactly what you told him to do and then, like a dirty dog, you voted 
against him. 

7. Do your homework. Spend any amount of t ime necessary to become thorough ly fam iliar with 
each matter wh ich is to come before you. It is grossly unfa ir to the applicant and to t he City for you to 
act on a matter with which you have no previous knowledge or with wh ich you are only vaguely 
familiar. And you will make some horrible and disturbing decisions. 



The Riggins Ru les 

S. Don't indicate by wor d o r action how you intend to vote during t he portion of the hearing 
devoted to presentations by the applicant, presentations by any persons appearing in objection, and 
comments by members of the staff. 

2 

During this period your body is the judge and the jury and it is no more appropriate for you to express 
an opinion as to the proper decision, prior to hearing all of the testimony, t han it would be for a judge 
or any member to announce his firm conviction in the middle of a court t r ial regarding the guilt or 
innocence of the defendant. Th is is not clearly understood by a majority of persons sitting on hearing 
bodies. 

It is not too d ifficult to phrase one's questions or comments in a manner that implies t hat you are 
seeking information rather than stating an irrefutable fact and that your m ind is closed to father 
argument 

One does not say, "I happen to know t hat the applicant has no intention of placing an apartment 
bui ld ing on t his site. In fact, it has been sold subj ect to zoning and the purchaser intends to put a 
mobi le home park here if he can get a special permit." Rather t han this, one could say, "We have been 
furnished with some information which indicates t hat perhaps your plans are not too f irm regarding 
t he development you propose. In fact, there are some who are concerned about a rumor that t he 
property is being sold and t hat the new owner planned to put a mobile home park at t his location, if 
he can secure t he necessary permit. Would you care to comment on this concern of the neighborhood 
and te ll us if t here is any truth in this rumor?" The same result is accomplished, the informat ion is 
brought out and made part of t he public record and you don't look as if you are lead ing t he attack to 
secure t he defeat of the appli cant's request. 

9. Don't fail to disqualif y yourself if either directly or indirectly you have any f inancial interest in 
t he outcome of the hearing, and let your conscience be your guide where it could be said t hat moral, 
ethical, poli tical, or other considerations, such as personal an imosity, would not permit you to make a 
fair and impartia l decision. 

In disqualifying yourself, do not state your reasons inasmuch as the mere statement of your reasons 
can be construed as exerting influence on your fe llow members. To avoid all accusations of undue 
influence, it is generally wise to leave the room and ask that the reco rd show t hat you did so and that 
you did not indicate by word or action whether you were in favor of, or opposed to, the matter under 
discussion . 

1 0. Do rotate the seating in some regular manner each successive meeting to prevent a "strong" 
member from gradually dominating a "weak" and indecisive member always seated next to him. This 
will also prevent the forming of little cl iques or a not infrequent grouping of members to t he left of the 
Cha ir who always oppose those to the right of the Chair, regard less of the merits of t he case, to the 
great detriment of the applicant, t he City and other interested parties. 

11. Do be polite and impartial. Be as helpfu l as possible to the nervous, t he frightened and the 
uneducated, and patient with the confused. 

12. Do be attentive. Those appearing before you have probably spent hours and hours rehearsing 
their arguments. The least you can do is listen and make t hem think that you are as interested as you 
should be. Refrain from talking to other members, passing notes and studying unrelated papers. 

13. Don't interrupt a presentation until the question period, except for very short and necessary 
clarifying remarks or queries. Most applicants have arranged their remarks in a log ica l sequence and 
the thing about which you are so concerned will probably be covered if you force yourself to be quiet 
for a few minutes. You can wreck his whole case by a long series of unnecessary questions at the 
wrong time. He will be your enemy forever. 

14. Don 't pe rmit more than one per son at the podium or microphone at anyone time. 



The Riggi ns Rules 3 

15. Don't permit a person to directly question or interrogate other persons in the audience. 
All questions should be addressed to the Chair and to the hearing body. When th is person has f inished 
his discussion and stated the questions to which he would like to have answers, then the Chair wi ll 
permit those who care to make an answer to come forward and do so, but on ly voluntarily. Do not 
permit anyone to demand answers to all and sundry questions, especially if it is obviously done for the 
purpose of harassment 

16. Don't use first names in addressing anyone at all during the course of the hear ing. Th is incl udes 
audience, applicant s, members of your particu lar body, even if the person concerned is your brother 
or your best friend . 

Nothing, repeat nothing creates a more unfavorable impression on the publi c than this practice. It is 
poor "hearing manners," destroys the formality of the occasion, and makes the uninformed certain 
that some sort of "buddy-buddy dea l" is about to be consummated. If you just can't bring yourself to 
cal l someone Mr. or Mrs., use the t hi rd person form and call him "the applicant," or "the person who is 
objecting," or "t he gentleman (or lady)." who is appearing here in connection with this case. 

17.00 show great respect for the Chair, always addressing the Cha irman as "Mr . Chairman," "The 
Chairman," or "Chairman Jones," and always wa it to be recognized before continuing. This wi ll set an 
example for applicants and others wishing to be heard and will contribute a great dea l toward the 
orderliness of the proceedings. 

18. Don't be critical of attorneys who sometimes feel impelled to give unnecessa ril y lengthy 
presentations on behalf of their cli ents. Avoid the strong temptation to make matters as difficult as 
possible for t hem. They are just tying to make a liv ing and must convince their clients that t hey are 
rea lly ea rning the rather substantial fee which they fee l their service merits. 

19. Don't indulge in personalities and don't permit anyone else to do so. 

20. Don't try to make the applicant o r any other person appearing before you look like a 
fool by the nature of your questions or remarks. This is often a temptation, especially when it is 
apparent that someone is being slightly devious and less than forthright in his t estimony. But don 't do 
it. If you must "expose" someone, do it as gently and kind ly as possible. 

21. Don't become involved in altercations. Some persons seem to come to hearings with the 
express purpose of "telling them guys down there how the cow ate the cabbage." If you answer their 
irrelevant rantings, you are immediately involved in a fight. 

Don't answer or try to defend yourse lf. You are there to hear testim ony and make decisions based 
thereon, not to head up a debating society. Remember, you are the judge and jury. In most cases, it 
is sufficient to say , "thank you for coming here and giving us the benefit of your th inking. I am sure 
that the members of this body will give your remarks se r ious consideration when they are making 
th eir individual determinations on the merits of th is case. Is t here anyone else who wishes to be 
heard ?" 

22. Do invite interested parties to come forward where they can see when an applicant is 
discussing or talking from a diagram, site plan, or exhibit wh ich is not visible to the audience. 

23. Do not permit people to speak from the audience. If it is important enough for them to 
speak at all, it is important for them to be recognized, come forward, give their name and address, 
and say what they care to, if their remarks are pertinent. 

24. Do not permit people to leave the podium or the microphone and approach closer to the 
hearing body except in unusual circumstances, usually to show a sma ll exhib it or to expla in some 
detail. Thi s ordinarily breaks down into a small mumbling session at one end of the dais with one or 
two members of the hear ing body, the others are uncertain about what is going on. The conve rsation 
usually does not get recorded, cannot be heard by the audience, and is almost impossible to control 
from the Chai r. 



The Riggins Rules 4 

25. Don't become involved in neighborhood quarrels or wind up as the referee even if you are a 
veritable Solomon. No matter how fair or impartial you should be, both sides will be mad at you. Stick 
to the merits of the case and rule out-of-order testimony which is irrelevant, personal hearsay, and 
not pert inent to the matter being heard. 

26. Don't be vindictive and "punish ' th e appli cant for some real or imagined affront to you or your 
Body on some previous occasion, perhaps bearing no relation to the present hearing. It must be 
assumed that he is there lega lly, he has a right to be heard, and he has a ri ght to a fair and impartial 
hearing on the merits of his present case without reference to something which he might or might not 
have done in the past or will perhaps do in the future. 

27. Don't try to be a hero to beautiful women, little old ladies, widowed mothers with tiny infants in 
t heir arms, and the financially and socia lly distressed. Be sympathetic, but objective, and don't get 
carried away with such a strong desire to help that you throw the ru le book out the window. Ninet y
nine times out of a hundred you wil l do them some kind of questionable service at the expense of their 
neighbors or the City and your kind-hearted action will come back to haunt you much sooner than 
anyone could have imagined. Stick to the rules. 

28. Don't assume the role of fairy godfather to those who have become involved in bad business 
dea ls or other self-imposed difficu lties. 

29. Do not fail to give a reason when making a motion for approval or denial of an applicant's 
request. If you fail to do this, the applicant, any objectors, a reviewing body of higher authority, or the 
courts may we ll assume that your decision was an arbitrary one not supported by the facts and should 
be reversed. Always mention the staff recommendation. 

30. Do not take staff recommendations lightly. These recommendat ions are made after much 
study by professiona l people with years of experience in their field and are based on pertinent laws, 
ord inances, regulations, policies, and practices developed by you and your predecessors. The 
recommendat ions of a good staff in possession of all the facts will almost always produce a technically 
correct recom mendation. 

Your job is to temper this recommendation with information developed during the hearings, wh ich was 
not available to the staff. It is not unusually for the staff to voluntarily reverse or change the details of 
its recommendation during the course of a hearing. Always announce the staff recommendations prior 
to hearing any testimony and always make appropriate mention of it in the final decision. 

31. Don't forget that the staff is there to help you in any way possible. It is composed of very 
capable professional people with vast experience. Lean on them heavily. They can pu ll you out of 
many a bad spot if you give them a chance. Or they may just sit and let you stew, if you do not give 
them the respect, which is their due. Remember that their usual practice is to rema in silent unless 
they are specificall y asked to comment. Most of them consider it presumptuous and unprofessional to 
inj ect any unsolicited comments into the hearings. Always ask them to comment pri or t o the final 
vote. 

32. Don't try to answer technical questions even if you are sure that you brow the answer. You 
probably don't and wi ll wind up looking like a fool. Refer these matters to the staff. That is one of the 
things they are there for. They have intimate day-by-day working experience with all the pertinent 
ordinances and can nearly always give a timely, up-to-the-minute, professional dissertation on any 
subject in their field. And besides, it makes them feel more important and helps create an image of 
competency, which is most helpful in assuring the public that their case has received more than a 
cursory glance and an arbitrary decision. 

Lay members of a hearing body who "explain" ordinances to the audience usually wind up their less 
than accurate remarks with the pretty lame comment, "That's the way I understand it and if I am 
wrong, I would appreciate it if the staff would correct me. " The staff usually does correct them, and 
ord inarily at some length. Don 't try to show how smart you are because you're not. 



The Riggins Rules 5 

33. Don't try to ease your conscience and toss the applicant a bone by granting him someth ing 
less than he asked for, something he doesn 't want, and something he can 't use. In all cases where it 
is appropriate, give him what he asked for or deny it. To do otherwise wi ll only encourage applicants 
to ask for the "moon and the stars" in the hope that they wi ll , at the worst, get the minimum 
requirements . A reputation for approving or denying applications as filed wi ll result in much more 
rea listic requests and make your job much easier. 

34. Do vote by roll call, except for routine administrative matters. This is wonderful cha racter 
training for each member of the body and emphasizes the "moment of truth" when he must look the 
applicant in the eye, make his own indiv idual decision, and say "aye" or "nay" in a loud clear voice, all 
alone, with no one to hide behind. The alternate voting method is difficu lt for the Secretary to record, 
doesn't mean anyth ing on a tape record ing, is many times quite confusing and gives cowards an 
opportunity to change their minds and vote twice when they are caught in the minority. 

35. Don't show any displeasure or elation, by word or action, over the outcome of a vote. This is 
very bad hearing manners and won't lead to the maintenance of a friendly cooperat ive spi rit among 
members of the Body. It wi ll lead to the creation of little cliques whose members vote in a block and 
become more interested in clobbering each other than in making fair and equ itable decisions. 

36. Do discourage any post-mortem remarks by applicants, objectors, or members after the final 
vote and decision are announced, especially those afterthoughts designed to reopen the case. It will 
invariably result an unpleasant wrangle. Just say, "]'m sorry, but the final decision has been made. If 
you wish to submit additional testimony, it will be necessary for you to state your reasons by letter 
and the Body will decide at a subsequent meeting whether or not they wish to reopen the case. The 
next case on the agenda will be " 

37. Do not hesitate to continue a case or take it under advisement if more information or 
greater deliberation is trul y necessary, but do not use these administrative actions merely to avoid or 
delay making a decision before a hostile applicant or audience. 

38. Do sit down and have a long soul searching session with yourself if you find you are 
conSistently "out in left field ," that no one seems inclined to second you r profound motions, and that 
you are quite often a minority of one . You might be theoretically right, and probably are, but give 
some thought t o what is practical, and just . Don't be "stiff-necked" in your opinions. Give a little. 

39. Don't select chairmen on a seniority basis alone and don't pass the office along from 
member to member as a reward and honor. The nicest guy in the world, the hardest working, the 
most interesting and your most valuable member can be indescribably horrible in the Chair. This is 
just one of those facts of life which is hard to explain, but unfortunately, all too true. 

As occasion presents itself, give prospective Chairmen a chance to preside, head up a sub-commiltee, 
report on specia l projects, and otherwise prepare themselves and demonstrate their abi liti es and 
leadership under pressure. 

P:\City Cle,k\City Council\The Riggins Rules.docx 



CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE 

2.04.140 Agenda. 

The following have autho ri ty to place a matter on the counci l agenda: 

A. The mayo r or any member of the city counci l: 

B. The city manager: 

C. The city council may. after the seventy-two hour agenda-posting deadline has 
expired. add items to the agenda in the manner provided in Government Code Section 
54954.2(b). A majorit y ofa quorum of the c ity council may order that any designated matter be 
on any future agenda: 

D. The cha ir of any board or comm ission. provided the subject is reasonably related 
to the powers and duties o f the body and concerns a matter upon which the counc il has aut hority 
to act: 

E. The city treasurer. c ity cle rk . or city attorney. provided the subject is reasonably 
re lated to their powers and duti es and conce rns a subject upon which the counc il has authority to 
act. 

Other persons must direct the ir age nda requests to the city council (at council meetings) . 
the mayor. or the city manager. Agendas sha ll otherwise be prepared under the direction of the 
city manager and shal l be posted . noticed and di stributed in accordance with the Brown Act. For 
purposes of Government Code Sect ion 54954.2(a). agendas shall be posted in the entrance area 
to the city council chambers. (Ord . 919 § I. 2007: Ord. 830 § I (part). 200 I : Ord. 375 (part). 
1974) 


